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AUDIO RECORDING OF COUNCIL MEETINGS 

All Open and Special Council Meetings will be audio recorded, with the exception 

of matters identified as confidential items in the agenda.  This includes public 

participation sections of the meeting. Audio recordings of meetings will be made 

available for download on the internet via the Council’s website by noon the day 

following the meeting and will be retained and publicly available on the website 

for 12 months following the meeting date.  The recordings will be retained for the 

term of the current Council, after which time the recordings will be archived and 

destroyed in accordance with applicable public record standards.  By 

participating in Open and Special Council meetings, individuals consent to the use 

and disclosure of the information that they share at the meeting (including any 

personal/sensitive information), for the purposes of Council carrying out its 

functions. 
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MINUTES OF THE ORDINARY MEETING OF THE WARRNAMBOOL CITY COUNCIL HELD IN THE 
RECEPTION ROOM, WARRNAMBOOL CIVIC CENTRE, 25 LIEBIG STREET, WARRNAMBOOL ON 

MONDAY 4 SEPTEMBER 2017 COMMENCING AT 5.45PM 
 

PRESENT:  Cr. Kylie Gaston, Mayor/Chairman 
Cr. Robert Anderson 
Cr. Sue Cassidy 
Cr. Tony Herbert 
Cr. Peter Hulin 
Cr. Michael Neoh 
Cr. David Owen 

 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr Bruce Anson, Chief Executive 
 Mr Peter Utri, Director Corporate Strategies  
 Mr Scott Cavanagh, Director City Infrastructure 
 Ms. Vikki King, Director Community Development 
 Mr Andrew Paton, Director City Growth 
 
1. OPENING PRAYER 

Almighty God 
Grant to this Council 
Wisdom, understanding and Sincerity of purpose 
For the Good Governance of this City 
Amen. 

 
ORIGINAL CUSTODIANS STATEMENT 
I wish to acknowledge the traditional owners of the land on which we stand and pay my respects to 
their Elders past and present. 

 
2. APOLOGIES 

 
Nil. 

 
3. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES 
 

MOVED: CR. ANDERSON 
SECONDED: CR. CASSIDY 

That the Minutes of the Ordinary Meeting of Council held on 7 August 2017 be received. 

CARRIED – 7:0 

 
4. DECLARATION BY COUNCILLORS & OFFICERS OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST IN ANY 

ITEM ON THE AGENDA 

Pursuant to Sections 77, 78 and 79 of the Local Government Act 1989 (as amended) direct and 
indirect conflict of interest must be declared prior to debate on specific items within the agenda; or in 
writing to the Chief Executive Officer before the meeting. Declaration of indirect interests must also 
include the classification of the interest (in circumstances where a Councillor has made a Declaration 
in writing, the classification of the interest must still be declared at the meeting), i.e.  
 
(a) direct financial interest  
(b) indirect interest by close association  
(c) indirect interest that is an indirect financial interest  
(d) indirect interest because of conflicting duties  
(e) indirect interest because of receipt of an applicable gift  
(f) indirect interest as a consequence of becoming an interested party  
(g) indirect interest as a result of impact on residential amenity  
(h) conflicting personal interest  
 
A Councillor who has declared a conflict of interest, must leave the meeting and remain outside the 
room while the matter is being considered, or any vote is taken.   Councillors are also encouraged to 
declare circumstances where there may be a perceived conflict of interest. 
 
Nil. 
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5. REPORTS 

 
5.1 REPORT ON EFFICIENCIES AND IMPROVEMENTS 
 
PURPOSE 
 
To provide Councillors with an update on gains in operational efficiencies and improvements.  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
 Council continues to investigate ways in which it can deliver services more efficiently to the community. 

 With cost-shifting from the Victorian and Commonwealth governments and rate capping imposed on 
local government Councils have had to save money through either cutting services, changing the way 
services are delivered and/or working smarter. 

 Over several years, an average rate increase of about 4.5 per cent helped maintain the standard of 
services provided to the Warrnambool community. 

 Despite the limitations of the rate cap, over the past two financial years Council has maintained services 
and standards by reviewing operations and introducing efficiencies. Operating expenditure increases 
have fallen from 4.69 per cent in 2014-2015 to 2.91 per cent in 2016-2017 and a budgeted 1.16 per cent 
over 2017-2018.  

 This report informs Council of a range of activities undertaken to deliver services more efficiently and to 
improve services. 

 Examples of this include changes to fuel purchasing, mobile telephone plans, energy efficient lighting. 

 The report is indicative and not an exhaustive list of efficiency gains. – refer Appendix A. 

 Council will continue to seek efficiencies in its operations and will report back to Council on this. 

  

MOVED: CR. NEOH 
SECONDED: CR. OWEN 
 
That the report be received. 

CARRIED – 7:0 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Efficiencies and Improvements Report describes in brief the financial challenges facing local 
government and how these are being addressed by Council staff. 
 
Over a number of years Council has encouraged staff to be constantly considering ways in which to deliver 
services more efficiently with a view to embedding this approach into everyday management.  
 
With municipal rates and charges comprising less than 50 per cent of Council’s overall budget (see 
illustration), it is imperative that funding is used prudently and that Council continues to obtain grants and 
other recurrent funding sources from other levels of government. 
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In recent times efficiencies and savings have been delivered through the introduction of newer road 
rehabilitation techniques such as using foamed bitumen and cement stabilisation, the use of mobile 
technology by Local Laws officers and achieving better results with new contracts for services such as 
cleaning.   
 
In some instances an initial additional financial outlay is required to achieve savings in the longer term. As an 
example, lights at the Warrnambool Stadium were upgraded to LED (Light Emitting Diode) technology at a 
cost of about $200 per light. However this investment is likely to pay for itself within three years through 
savings in electricity costs.  
  
Staff will continue to look for smarter ways to provide services and ensure that the best possible value is 
provided with available funds. 
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5.2 ACTIVITIES & INITIATIVES 2016/17 – JUNE QUARTER YEAR END 
 
PURPOSE 
 
This report provides information on progress in achieving the Activities and Initiatives set down for 
2016/17 as part of the Budget process. 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
In order to achieve the objectives established in the Council Plan, a set of Activities and Initiatives are 
developed for each year of the four-year plan. 
 
Funding allocations to deliver the Activities and Initiatives are outlined in Council’s annual Budget and in 
2016-2017 there were 158 Activities and Initiatives identified. These actions and initiatives are representative 
the broad range of the work that is undertaken by Council on behalf of the community. 
 
Council is now reporting to the Community at the Action and Initiative level to provide more information as to 
the sorts of activity occurring in Warrnambool on behalf of our community  
 
The introduction of this report, along with changes to our financial reports is a small representation of 
Councils commitment to improving its transparency to the community.  
 
This attached report provides a series of summaries of actions and initiatives. The report details where 
activities are up to and details milestones and significant events in the progress to completion across a range 
of actions and initiatives. 
 
At year end 89.2% of the program has been fully completed, 9.5% are behind schedule and 1.3% have been 
withdrawn due to changes in circumstance or funding. 
 

MOVED: CR. CASSIDY 
SECONDED: CR. HERBERT 
 
That this report be received. 

CARRIED – 7:0 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
The 2013-2017 Council Plan is the principle planning and directional document of the Council and details the 
Council strategic objectives and strategies over a 4 year period. 
 
As part of the Annual Budget process Council is required to set down the Activities and Initiatives (A&I’s) that 
are to be funded and demonstrate how these A&I’s will contribute to achieving the strategic objectives 
specified in the Council Plan. 
 
This report details the implementation status of the Activities and Initiatives (‘A&I’s’).  Each action has a quick 
indicator of the current status. 
 
With the development on the New Council plan 2017 -2021 and its proposed adoption (scheduled for 
Councils adoption in June 2017) Council will further refine how it reports to the community on a quarterly 
basis into the new financial year. 
 

 On Schedule       Behind Schedule                     Completed         Withdrawn 
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2016/17 ACTIVITIES AND INITIATIVES OVERVIEW 
 
The report provides summary comments as to the progress of the 2016/17 A&I’s. A copy of the 158 A&I’s 
and indicators, as at 30 June 2017, is attached as Appendix A to this report. 
 
As the graph below indicates 89.2% have been completed, 9.5% of the A&I’s are behind schedule and 1.3% 

have been withdrawn. 
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5.3 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & PERFORMANCE STATEMENT 2016-2017  

 
PURPOSE 
 
This report seeks the endorsement of Council to approve in principle Council’s Financial Statements 
and Annual Performance Statement. 
 
It further seeks to nominate two Councillors to have the authority to sign the annual accounts and 
performance statement on behalf of Council, once final sign off has been received from the Victorian 
Auditor General’s Office (VAGO). 
 
This authorisation will enable Council to meet its statutory obligations for the lodgement of its 
Annual Statements (as part of the Annual Report) to the Minister by 30 September 2017. The Annual 
report will return to Council for consideration at a Council Meeting on October 2, 2017. 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Auditor-General is responsible under the Audit Act for the audit of Council’s general purpose financial 
reports and performance statement.  These audits are conducted by contractors as agents of the Auditor-
General. RSD Audit is the appointed Auditor-General’s agent. 
 
Sections 131-134 of the Local Government Act 1989 (LGA) and the Local Government (Planning and 
Reporting) Regulations 2014 deal with statutory procedures that govern the preparation of an Annual Report 
inclusive of  financial statements,  performance statement, report of operations and auditor’s reports. 
 
Council has a statutorily set period in which to submit its audited annual statements to the Minister of Local 
Government 30 September each year. 
 

 
MOVED: CR. ANDERSON 
SECONDED: CR. HERBERT 
 
1. That Council, pursuant to Section 132(2) of the Local Government Act 1989 (“the Act”) approve in 

principle the 2016-2017 financial statements which have been subject to external audit by the 
Auditor-General’s agent, with the outcomes also having been reviewed by the Audit & Risk 
Committee. 

 
2. That Council, pursuant to Section 132(2) of the Act, approve in-principle the 2016-2017 

performance statement. 
 
3. That Councillor Michael Neoh and Councillor Peter Hulin be authorised to certify the 2016-2017 

financial statements pursuant to Section 132(5) of the Local Government Act 1989, after any 
changes recommended by audit have been made.  

 
4. That Councillor Michael Neoh and Councillor Peter Hulin be authorised to certify the 2016-2017 

performance statement pursuant to Section 132(5) of the Local Government Act 1989. 
 
5. That the Council Meeting to consider the Annual Report be put out for public advertisement from 

Saturday September 16, 2017 pursuant to Section 134(b) of the Local Government Act 1989. 
 
6. That Council endorse the direction and timetable for preparation of the 2016-2017 Annual Report. 
 

CARRIED – 7:0 
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ISSUES 
 
A timetable has been prepared to ensure legislative compliance with matters relating to the preparation and 
lodgement of: 
 
 2016-2017   Financial Statements. 
 2016-2017   Performance Statement. 
 2016-2017   Annual Report. 
 
2017 Annual report Time Frame 
 

Throughout 
August 

Draft Financial Statements and the Performance Statement (using Local Government 
Performance Reporting Framework) finalised and external audit completed.  

29 August  
Meeting of Audit Committee to review Draft Financial Statements and Performance 
Statement and outcomes of external audit. 

Council Meeting  

4 September  

Report to Council presenting Draft Financial Statements and Performance Statement 
including approval in principle of each of the statements and authorisation of two 
councillors to certify the Financial Statements and the Performance Statement. This 
ensures compliance with Sections 132(2), and 132 (5) of the LGA. 

Approximately 

8 September  
Statements forwarded to the Office of the Victorian Auditor-General for review. 

Approximately 14 
September 

After receipt of VAGO authorisation - Signed-off certifications by the Chief Executive, 
Principal Accounting Officer and two authorised Councillors, and then re-submit to 
VAGO. 

16 September Advertisement of Council Meeting to consider the Annual Report. 

18 September Receipt of the Auditor-General’s Audit Reports. 

30 September Lodgement of Annual Report with the Minister. 

2 October  Report to Council to consider the Annual Report (Section 134). 

 
Council is required to pass a resolution giving its approval in-principle to the financial statements and 
performance statement.  
 
In addition two Councillors are required to be authorised to certify the financial statements and performance 
statement in their final form after any changes recommended or agreed to by the auditor have been made, 
pursuant to Section 132(5) of the Local Government Act 1989. Past practice has been to have the councillor 
representatives on the Audit & Risk Committee approved to sign the statements. 
 
 
PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, STANDARD STATEMENTS AND THE AND 
PERFORMANCE STATEMENT 
 
A meeting of the Audit & Risk Committee was held on the 29

th
 of August 2017 to review the outcomes of the 

external audit, following the completion of the external audit process.  
 
The Committee resolved as follows: 

 
“That the Audit & Risk Committee advise Council that is it considered appropriate for Council to give 

approval in principle to the 2016-2017 Financial Statements and Performance Statement”. 

 
The draft Financial Statements and Performance Statement are attached as Appendix A to this report. 
 
The Performance Statement now reflects the outcomes of the Local Government Performance Reporting 
Framework. 
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ANNUAL REPORT 
 
In accordance with Sections 131, 132, and 134 of the Act, Council must prepare an Annual Report each year 
containing: 
 
 Report of Operations. 
 Audited Financial Statements. 
 Audited Performance Statement. 

 
Council must lodge the Annual Report with the Minister for Local Government by 30 September each year. 
 
Within one month of lodging the Annual Report Council must consider the report after advertising its intention 
for at least fourteen days. The Annual Report is also made available to the public. 
 
The actions presented in the timetable above will ensure that Council meets its statutory compliance 
requirements in relation to Financial Statements, Performance Statement and the Annual Report. 
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Warrnambool City Council 

         
 

Annual Financial Report  

         

         For the Year Ended 30 June 2017 
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Comprehensive Income Statement For The Year Ended 30 June 2017 
     
     
 Note 2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Income     
Rates and charges 3 34,326  33,096 
Statutory fees and fines 4 1,811  1,369 
User fees 5 15,287  16,213 
Grants - Operating 6 15,630  11,662 
Grants - Capital 6 5,827  5,770 
Contributions - Monetary 7 2,379  1,664 
Contributions - Non-monetary 7 7,638  7,936 
Other income 9 829  897 
Share of net profits/(losses) of associates 16 36  49 
Total Income  83,763  78,656 
     
Expenses     
Employee costs 10 (31,575)  (30,013) 
Materials and services 11 (25,604)  (24,331) 
Bad and doubtful debts 12 (259)  (210) 
Depreciation and amortisation 13 (10,936)  (10,166) 
Borrowing costs 14 (492)  (601) 
Other expenses 15 (784)  (743) 
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, 
infrastructure, plant and equipment 

8 (2,465)  (548) 

Total Expenses  (72,115)  (66,612) 
     
Surplus/(Deficit) for the year  11,649  12,044 

     
Other Comprehensive Income     
Items that will not be reclassified to surplus 
or deficit in future periods: 

    

Net asset revaluation increment / 
(decrement) 

27 11,695  5,435 

Share of other comprehensive income from 
investements in associates 

16 6  3 

     
Total Comprehensive Result  23,350  17,482 
     
The above comprehensive income statement 
should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2017     

 Note 2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Assets     
Current assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 17           1,564   3,227 
Trade and other receivables 18           4,258   3,458 
Other financial assets 19         12,000   9,000 
Inventories 20              180   111 
Other assets 21              738   421 
Total current assets          18,740   16,217 
     
Non-current assets     
Trade and other receivables 18               87   161 
Investments in associates 16              535   493 
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 22 667,094  647,210 
Total non-current assets        667,716   647,864 
Total assets        686,456   664,081 
     
Liabilities     
Current liabilities     
Trade and other payables 23           4,388   4,564 
Trust funds and deposits 24              648   720 
Provisions 25           6,126   5,668 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 26           1,835   1,985 
Total current liabilities          12,997   12,937 
     
Non-current liabilities     
Provisions 25           1,370   569 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 26           6,079   7,915 
Total non-current liabilities            7,449   8,484 
Total liabilities          20,446   21,421 
     
Net Assets        666,010   642,660 
     
Equity     
Accumulated surplus        212,914   201,134 
Reserves 27       453,096   441,526 
Total Equity        666,010   642,660 
     
The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction 
with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended 30 
June 2017 

  

 Note Total 
$'000 

Accumulated 
Surplus 
$'000 

Asset 
Revaluation 
Reserve 
$'000 

Other 
Reserves 
$'000 

      
2017      
      
Balance at beginning of the financial 
year 

 642,660 201,134 435,302 6,224 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year  11,649 11,649 0 0 
Other comprehensive income from 
investments in associates 

 6 6 0 0 

Net assets revaluation 
increment/(decrement) 

27(a) 11,695 0 11,695 0 

Transfers to other reserves 27(b) 0 (1,002) 0 1,002 
Transfers from other reserves 27(b) 0 1,127 0 (1,127) 
Balance at end of financial year  666,010 212,914 446,997 6,099 
      
      
2016      
      
Balance at beginning of the financial 
year 

 625,179 189,579 429,867 5,732 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year  12,044 12,044 0 0 
Other comprehensive income from 
investments in associates 

 3 3 0 0 

Net assets revaluation 
increment/(decrement) 

27(a) 5,434 0 5,435 0 

Transfers to other reserves 27(b) 0 (1,275) 0 1,275 
Transfers from other reserves 27(b) 0 783 0 (783) 
Balance at end of financial year  642,660 201,134 435,302 6,224 
      
      
The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction 
with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended 30 June 2017  

 Note 2017 
Inflows/ 
(Outflows) 
$'000 

 2016 
Inflows/ 
(Outflows) 
$'000 

     
     
Cash flows from operating activities     
Rates and charges  34,500  33,152 
Statutory fees and fines  1,651  1,369 
User charges   15,371  16,349 
Grants - operating  20,543  17,635 
Contributions - monetary  2,379  1,664 
Interest received  386  482 
Trust funds and deposits taken  1,346  1,324 
Other receipts  427  406 
Net GST refund / (payment)  183  (148) 
Employee costs  (31,181)  (29,856) 
Materials and services  (25,331)  (25,415) 
Trust funds and deposits repaid  (1,418)  (1,395) 
Other payments  (1,253)  (1,306) 
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 28 17,604  14,261 
     
Cash flows from investing activities     
Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 22 (14,992)  (15,754) 
Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment 

 711  381 

Payments for investments  (32,000)  (32,000) 
Proceeds from sale of investments  29,000  32,000 
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  (17,281)   (15,373) 
     
Cash flows from financing activities     
Proceeds from borrowings  0  1,000 
Repayment of borrowings  (1,986)  (1,760) 
Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities  (1,986)   (760) 
     
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (1,663)  (3,872) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial 
year 

 3,227  7,099 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 17 1,564  3,227 
     
     
Financing arrangements 29    
      
Restrictions on cash and assets 17    
     
The above cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 
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Statement of Capital Works for the Year Ended 30 June 2017 

     

  
2017 

 
2016 

  
$'000 

 
$'000 

     Property 
    Land specialised 
 

0 
 

523 

Land non-specialised 
 

0 
 

458 

Land improvements 
 

73 
 

38 

Total Land 
 

73 
 

1,019 

     Buildings specialised 
 

1,534 
 

2,387 

Buildings non-specialised 
 

69 
 

264 

Building improvements 
 

21 
 

385 

Total Buildings 
 

1,624 
 

3,036 

Total Property 
 

1,697 
 

4,055 

     Plant and equipment 
    Plant, machinery and equipment 
 

2,092 
 

1,090 

Fixtures, fittings and furniture 
 

124 
 

31 

Computers and telecommunications 
 

1,706 
 

10 

Paintings and exhibits 
 

109 
 

56 

Total plant and equipment 
 

4,031 
 

1,187 

     Infrastructure 
    Roads 
 

3,900 
 

6,985 

Bridges 
 

286 
 

770 

Footpaths and cycleways 
 

4,613 
 

438 

Drainage 
 

901 
 

1,585 

Recreational, leisure and community facilities 
 

311 
 

37 

Parks, open space and streetscapes 
 

335 
 

460 

Aerodromes 
 

59 
 

483 

Off street car parks 
 

17 
 

24 

Other infrastructure 
 

48 
 

55 

Total infrastructure 
 

10,470 
 

10,837 

Total capital works expenditure 
 

16,198 
 

16,079 

     Represented by: 
    New asset expenditure 
 

1,999 
 

6,467 

Asset renewal expenditure 
 

13,327 
 

8,070 

Asset expansion expenditure 
 

268 
 

472 

Asset upgrade expenditure 
 

604 
 

1,071 

Total capital works expenditure 
 

16,198 
 

16,079 

     

     

     The above statement of capital works should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 
June 2017 

  

     

Introduction    
 (a) The Warrnambool City Council was established by an Order of the Governor in 

Council on 20 September 1994. 
  The Council's main office is located at 25 Liebig Street Warrnambool. 
     
Statement of Compliance   
  These financial statements are a general purpose financial report that consists of a 

Comprehensive Income Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, 
Statement of Cash Flows, Statement of Capital Works and Notes accompanying these 
financial statements. The general purpose financial report complies with Australian 
Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board, the Local Government Act 1989, and the Local 
Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014. 

     
Note 
1 

Significant accounting policies   

     
 (a) Basis of accounting   
  The accrual basis of accounting has been used in the preparation of these financial 

statements, whereby assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in 
the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid. 

     
  Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying 

values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The 
estimates and associated judgements are based on professional judgement derived 
from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

     
  Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 

revised and also in future periods that are affected by the revision. Judgements and 
assumptions made by management in the application of AASs that have significant 
effects on the financial statements and estimates relate to: 
 
- the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to note 1 
(l) ) 
- the determination of depreciation for buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment 
(refer to  
  note 1(m) ) 
- the determination of employee provisions (refer to note 1(r) ) 

     
  Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies are consistent with those applied in the 

prior year.  Where appropriate, comparative figures have been amended to accord 
with current presentation, and disclosure has been made of any material changes to 
comparatives. 

     
 (b) Change in accounting policies   

  There have been no changes in accounting policies from the previous period. 

     
  Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2017 cont’    
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 (c) Committees of management 

  All entities controlled by Council that have material revenues, expenses, assets or 
liabilities, such as committees of management, have been included in this financial 
report. Any transactions between these entities and Council have been eliminated in 
full. 

     
 (d) Accounting for investments in associates 
  Associates   

  Associates are all entities over which Council has significant influence but not control 
or joint control.  Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method 
of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost.  

     
 (e) Revenue recognition   
     
  Income is recognised when the Council obtains control of the contribution or the right 

to receive the contribution, it is probable that the economic benefits comprising the 
contribution will flow to the Council and the amount of the contribution can be 
measured reliably. 

     
  Rates and Charges   

  Annual rates and charges are recognised as revenues when Council issues annual rates 
notices.  Supplementary rates are recognised when a valuation and reassessment is 
completed and a supplementary rates notice issued. 

     
     
  Statutory fees and fines   
  Statutory fees and fines (including parking fees and fines) are recognised as revenue 

when the service has been provided, the payment is received, or when the penalty has 
been applied, whichever first occurs. 

     
  User fees   
  User fees are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided or the 

payment is received, whichever first occurs. 

     
  Grants   
  Grant income is recognised when Council obtains control of the contribution.  This is 

normally obtained upon their receipt (or acquittal) or upon earlier notification that a 
grant has been secured, and are valued at their fair value at the date of transfer. 

     
  Where grants or contributions recognised as revenues during the financial year were 

obtained on condition that they be expended in a particular manner or used over a 
particular period and those conditions were undischarged at balance date, the unused 
grant or contribution is disclosed in note 6. The note also discloses the amount of 
unused grant or contribution from prior years that was expended on Council’s 
operations during the current year. 

     
  Contributions   
  Monetary and non monetary contributions are recognised as revenue when Council 

obtains control over the contributed asset. 

  Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2017 cont’   
  Sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment   
  The profit or loss on sale of an asset is determined when control of the asset has 

irrevocably passed to the buyer. 
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  Interest    
  Interest is recognised as it is earned. 

     
  Dividends   

  Dividend revenue is recognised when the Council's right to receive payment is 
established. 

     
  Other Income   
  Other income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable 

and is recognised when Council gains control over the right to receive the income. 

     
 (f) Fair value measurement   
  Council measures certain assets and liabilities at fair value where required or permitted 

by Australian Accounting Standards. AASB 13 Fair value measurement, aims to improve 
consistency and reduce complexity by providing a definition of fair value and a single 
source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across 
Australian Accounting Standards. 

  AASB 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. Fair value under AASB 13 is an exit price regardless of whether that 
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique.  

  All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial 
statements are categorised within a fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on 
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

  Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities 

  Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and 

  Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement is unobservable. 

  For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Council has determined classes of assets and 
liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and 
the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above. 

     
 (f) Fair value measurement (cont.)   
     
  In addition, Council determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the 

hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting 
period. 

     
 (g)  Cash and cash equivalents   
  Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits at call, and other highly 

liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or less, net of outstanding bank 
overdrafts. 

     
  

(h)  
Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2017 cont’ 
Trade and other receivables 

  

  Short term receivables are carried at invoice amount as amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method would not impact the carrying value.  A provision for 
doubtful debts is recognised when there is objective evidence that an impairment has 
occured.  Long term receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. 

     
 (i) Other financial assets   
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  Other financial assets are valued at fair value, being market value, at balance date.  
Term deposits are measured at amortised cost.  Any unrealised gains and losses on 
holdings at balance date are recognised as either a revenue or expense.   

     
 (j) Inventories   
  Inventories held for distribution are measured at cost, adjusted when applicable for 

any loss of service potential.   

     

  All other inventories, including land held for sale, are measured at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value. Where Inventories are  acquired for no cost or nominal 
consideration, they are measured at current replacement cost at the date of 
acquisition. 

     
 (k)  Non-current assets classified as held for sale   
  A non-current asset classified as held for sale (including disposal groups) is measured at 

the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs of disposal, and are not 
subject to depreciation. Non-current assets, disposal groups and related liabilities and 
assets are treated as current and classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will 
be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This 
condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset's sale 
(or disposal group sale) is expected to be completed within 12 months from the date of 
classification. 

     
 (l) Recognition and measurement of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment and 

intangibles 
     
  Acquisition   
  The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets, being the fair 

value of assets provided as consideration at the date of acquisition plus any incidental 
costs attributable to the acquisition. Fair value is the price that would be received to 
sell an asset (or paid to transfer a liability) in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. 

     
  Where assets are constructed by Council, cost includes all materials used in 

construction, direct labour, borrowing costs incurred during construction, and an 
appropriate share of directly attributable variable and fixed overheads. 

     
  In accordance with Council's policy, the threshold limits detailed in Note 1 (m) have 

applied when recognising assets within an applicable asset class and unless otherwise 
stated are consistent with the prior year. 

     
   

Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2017 cont’ 
Revaluation 

  

  Subsequent to the initial recognition of assets, non-current physical assets, other than 
plant and equipment, are measured at their fair value, being the price that would be 
received to sell an asset (or paid to transfer a liability) in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date.   At balance date, the Council 
reviewed the carrying value of the individual classes of assets measured at fair value to 
ensure that each asset materially approximated its fair value.  Where the carrying value 
materially differed from the fair value at balance date, the class of asset was revalued. 
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 (l) Recognition and measurement of property, plant and equipment, infrastructure, 

intangibles (cont.) 
     
  Fair value valuations are determined in accordance with a valuation hierarchy.  

Changes to the valuation hierarchy will only occur if an external change in the 
restrictions or limitations of use of an asset result in changes to the permissible or 
practical highest and best use of the asset. Further details regarding the fair value 
hierarchy are disclosed at Note 22 Property, infrastrucutre, plant and equipment. 

     
  In addition, Council undertakes a formal revaluation of land, buildings, and 

infrastructure assets on a regular basis ranging from 3 to 5 years.  The valuation is 
performed either by experienced council officers or independent experts. 

     
  Where the assets are revalued, the revaluation increments are credited directly to the 

asset revaluation reserve except to the extent that an increment reverses a prior year 
decrement for that class of asset that had been recognised as an expense in which case 
the increment is recognised as revenue up to the amount of the expense.  Revaluation 
decrements are recognised as an expense except where prior increments are included 
in the asset revaluation reserve for that class of asset in which case the decrement is 
taken to the reserve to the extent of the remaining increments.  Within the same class 
of assets, revaluation increments and decrements within the year are offset. 

     
  Land under roads   
  Council recognises land under roads it controls at fair value. 
     
 (m) Depreciation and amortisation of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment and 

intangibles 
  Buildings, land improvements, plant and equipment, infrastructure and other assets 

having limited useful lives are systematically depreciated over their useful lives to the 
Council in a manner which reflects consumption of the service potential embodied in 
those assets. Estimates of remaining useful lives and residual values are made on a 
regular basis with major asset classes reassessed annually. Depreciation rates and 
methods are reviewed annually. 

     
  Where assets have separate identifiable components that are subject to regular 

replacement, these components are assigned distinct useful lives and residual values 
and a separate depreciation rate is determined for each component. 

     
  Road earthworks are not depreciated on the basis that they are assessed as not having 

a limited useful life. 

     
  Land and Artworks are not depreciated.   

     
  Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2017 cont’ 

 
Straight line depreciation is charged based on the residual useful life as determined 
each year. 

       Depreciation periods used are listed below and are consistent with the prior year 
unless otherwise stated: 

  Asset recognition thresholds and depreciation periods Depreciation 
Period 

Threshold 
Limit 
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  Property  $'000 
  land n/a 0 
  land improvements 20 - 200 years 5 
  Buildings   
  buildings 30 - 100 years 5 
  building improvements 25 - 60 years 1 
  leasehold improvements 10 - 20 years 1 
  Plant and Equipment   
  heritage plant and equipment n/a 1 
  plant, machinery and equipment 3 - 40 years 1 
  fixtures, fittings and furniture 2 - 25 years 1 
  computers and telecommunications 5 - 20 years 1 
  library books n/a 0 
  Infrastructure   
  roads 16 - 200 years 5 
  bridges 30 - 200 years 5 
  footpaths and cycleways 15 - 65 years 5 
  drainage 20 - 200 years 1 
  recreational, leisure and community facilities 20 - 80 years 1 
  parks, open space and streetscapes 15 - 80 years 5 
  off street car parks 16 - 200 years 5 
  aerodromes 16 - 100 years 1 
  other infrastructure 20- 60 years 5 
   

    
     
 (n) Repairs and maintenance   
  Routine maintenance, repair costs, and minor renewal costs are expensed as incurred. 

Where the repair relates to the replacement of a component of an asset and the cost 
exceeds the capitalisation threshold the cost is capitalised and depreciated. The 
carrying value of the replaced asset is expensed. 
 

     
  

(o) 
Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2017 cont’ 
Impairment of assets 

  

  At each reporting date, the Council reviews the carrying value of its assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that these assets have been impaired. If 
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the 
asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, is compared to the assets 
carrying value. Any excess of the assets carrying value over its recoverable amount is 
expensed to the comprehensive income statement, unless the asset is carried at the 
revalued amount in which case, the impairment loss is recognised directly against the 
revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the 
impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for that same 
class of asset. 
 

     
 (p)  Trust funds and deposits   
  Amounts received as deposits and retention amounts controlled by Council are 

recognised as Trust funds until they are returned, transferred in accordance with the 
purpose of the receipt, or forfeited (refer to note 24). 
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 (q)  Borrowings      
  Borrowings  are initially measured at fair value, being the cost of the interest bearing 

liabilities, net of transaction costs.  The measurement basis subsequent to initial 
recognition depends on whether the Council has categorised its interest-bearing 
liabilities as either financial liabilities designated at fair value through the profit and 
loss, or financial liabilities at amortised cost.  Any difference between the initial 
recognised amount and the redemption value is recognised in net result over the 
period of the borrowing using the effective interest method.  The classification 
depends on the nature and purpose of the interest bearing liabilities.  The Council 
determines the classification of its interest bearing liabilities at initial recognition. 

     
  Borrowing Costs   
  Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred, 

except where they are capitalised as part of a qualifying asset constructed by Council. 
Except where specific borrowings are obtained for the purpose of specific asset 
acquisition, the weighted average interest rate applicable to borrowings at balance 
date, excluding borrowings associated with superannuation, is used to determine the 
borrowing costs to be capitalised. 

     
  Borrowing costs include interest on bank overdrafts, interest on borrowings, and 

finance lease charges. 
     
 (r)   Employee costs and benefits   
     
  The calculation of employee costs and benefits includes all relevant on-costs and are 

calculated as follows at reporting date. 
     
   

Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2017 cont’ 
Wages and salaries, and annual leave 

  

  Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and 
accumulated sick leave expected to be wholly settled within 12 months of the 
reporting date are recognised in the provision for employee benefits in respect of 
employee services up to the reporting date, classified as current liabilities and 
measured at their nominal values. 
 
Liabilities that are not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months of the reporting 
date are recognised in the provision for employee benefits as current liabilities, 
measured at the present value of the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 

     
  Long service leave   
  Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee 

benefits. 
Current Liability - unconditional LSL is disclosed as a current liability even when the 
council does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not have 
the unconditional right to defer settlement of the entitlement should an employee 
take leave within 12 months. 
 
The components of this current liability are measured at : 
   - present value - component that is not expected to be wholly settled within 12 
months.  
   - nominal value - component that is expected to be wholly settled within 12 months.  
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 (r)   Employee costs and benefits    
     
  Classification of employee costs   
  Non-current liability - conditional LSL that has been accrued, where an employee is yet 

to reach a qualifitying  term of employment, is disclosed as a non-current liability. 
There is an unconditional right to defer settlement of the entitlement until the 
employee has completed the requisite years of service. 

  This non-current LSL liability is measured at present value. 
     
 (s) Leases   
     
  Operating leases   
  Lease payments for operating leases are required by the accounting standard to be 

recognised on a straight line basis, rather than expensed in the years in which they are 
incurred. 

     
 (t) Goods and Services Tax (GST)   

  Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where 
the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these 
circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are 
shown inclusive of GST. 

     
  Cash flows are presented in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis, except for 

the GST component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as 
operating cash flows. 

     
 (u) Financial guarantees   

  Financial guarantee contracts are not recognised as a liability in the balance sheet 
unless the lender has exercised their right to call on the guarantee or Council has other 
reasons to believe that it is probable that the right will be exercised.  Details of 
guarantees that Council has provided, that are not recognised in the balance sheet are 
disclosed at Note 33 contingent liabilities and contingent assets. 

     
 (v) Contingent assets and contingent liabilities and commitments  

  Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet, 
but are disclosed by way of a Note and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. 
Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable 
respectively. 

     
  Commitments are not recognised in the Balance Sheet. Commitments are disclosed at 

their nominal value by way of Note and presented and inclusive of the GST payable. 

     
 (w)  Pending accounting standards   
  The following new AAS's have been issued that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2017 

reporting period.  Council has assessed these pending standards and has identified the 
following potential impacts will flow from the application of these standards in future 
reporting periods. 
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  Revenue from contracts with customers (AASB 15) (applies 2018/19)  
  The standard shifts the focus from the transaction-level to a contract-based approach.  

Recognition is determined based on what the customer expects to be entitled to (rights 
and obligations), while measurement encompasses estimation by the entity of the 
amount expected to be entitled for performing under the contract.  The full impact of 
this standard is not known however it is most likely to impact where contracts extend 
over time, where there are rights and obligations that may vary the timing or amount 
of the consideration, or where there are multiple performance elements.  This has the 
potential to impact on the recognition of certain grant income.  

     
  Leases (AASB 16) (applies 2019/20)    
  The classification of leases as either finance leases or operating leases is eliminated for 

lessees. Leases will be recognised in the Balance Sheet by capitalising the present value 
of the minimum lease payments and showing a ‘right-of-use’ asset, while future lease 
payments will be recognised as a financial liability. The nature of the expense 
recognised in the profit or loss will change. Rather than being shown as rent, or as 
leasing costs, it will be recognised as depreciation on the ‘right-of-use’ asset, and an 
interest charge on the lease liability. The interest charge will be calculated using the 
effective interest method, which will result in a gradual reduction of interest expense 
over the lease term. 

  Council has a significant number of operating leases that will be impacted as a result of 
this change.  This will see assets and liabilities of approximatly $900,000 recognised.   

     
 (x)  Rounding   
  Unless otherwise stated, amounts in the financial report have been rounded to the 

nearest thousand dollars. 

  Figures in the financial statement may not equate due to rounding. 
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Note 
2 

Budget Comparison      

         
 The budget comparison notes compare Council's financial plan, expressed through its annual budget, with actual performance.  The 

Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 requires explanation of any material variances.  Council has adopted a 
materiality threshold of 10% and $100,000 where further explanation is warranted.  Explanations have not been provided for variations 
below the materiality threshold unless the variance is considered to be material because of its nature. 

         
 The budget figures detailed below are those adopted by Council on 27 June 2016.  The Budget was based on assumptions that were 

relevant at the time of adoption of the Budget.  Council sets guidelines and parameters for income and expense targets in this budget in 
order to meet Council's planning and financial performance targets for both the short and long-term.  The budget did not reflect any 
changes to equity resulting from asset revaluations, as their impacts were not considered predictable. 

         
 These notes are prepared to meet the requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Planning and 

Reporting) Regulations 2014. 
 

         
 (a) Income and Expenditure      
    Budget Actual Variance  
    2017 2017 2017 2017  
    $'000 $'000 $'000 % Ref 
         
  Income       
  Rates and charges 34,119 34,326 207 0.6%  
  Statutory fees and fines 1,200 1,811 611 50.9% 1 
  User fees 16,528 15,287 (1,241) (7.5%)  
  Grants - Operating 12,355 15,630 3,275 26.5% 2 
  Grants - Capital 1,818 5,827 4,009 220.5% 3 
  Contributions - Monetary 623 2,379 1,756 281.9% 4 
  Contributions - Non-monetary 4,000 7,638 3,638 91.0% 5 
  Share of net profits/(losses) of associates 0 36 36 0.0%  
  Other income 784 829 45 5.7%  
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  Total income 71,427 83,763 12,336 17.3%  
         
  Expenses       
  Employee costs (30,518) (31,575) (1,057) (3.5%)  
  Materials and services (21,978) (25,604) (3,626) (16.5%) 6 
  Bad and doubtful debts (102) (259) (157) (153.9%) 7 
  Depreciation (10,000) (10,936) (936) (9.4%) 8 
  Borrowing costs (595) (492) 103 17.3%  
  Other expenses (823) (784) 39 4.8%  
  Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, 

infrastructure, plant and equipment 
(1,309) (2,465) (1,156) (88.3%) 9 

  Total expenses (65,325) (72,115) (6,790) (10.4%)  
         
  Surplus/(Deficit) for the year 6,102 11,649 5,547 90.9%  
         
 (i) Explanation of material variances      
         
 Var Explanation       
 Ref        
         
 1 Increase in town planning applications due to the changes of the fee structure under the Planning and Environment (Fees) 

Regulation 2016 and the Subdivision (Fees) Regulation 2016, that were not known at budget adoption, along with an 
increase in animal registration and paking fines. 

 

 2 Received first instalment of the 2017/18 Victorian Grants Commission Grant in 2016/17, that was not budgeted.  

 3 The variance relates to a number of projects that were not budgeted for, including City Centre Renewal project $1.78m, 
Flagstaff Hill Redevelopment project $1.0m, and the North Warrnambool Flood Mitigation project $824k. 

 

 4 Contributions for Allansford Recreation Reserve upgrade $314k, Regional Cities project $270k, and Barwon South West 
Hazard Assessment project $233k were received which were not budgeted. 

 

 5 The  value of gifted assets from subdivisions was greater than budgeted due to higher levels of activity than expected.  

 6 During the year Council expensed $3.0m of capital works including drainage repairs at non Council owned land, street 
lighting upgrade, Coglans Rd rebate scheme and maintenance on CBD roads. 
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 7 Increase in bad debts due to the increase in the number of animal registrations and parking fines issued.  

 8 Increase in depreciation due to a reduction in useful live of pavements and increase in amount of shorter lived stabilised 
pavements. 

 

 9 Increase in net loss due to the transfer of asset ownership of the RSL Building to the RSL and the Mortlake Road culvert to 
Vicroads. 

 

      

Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2017      

         
 (b) Capital Works      
    Budget Actual Variance  
    2017 2017 2017 2017  
    $'000 $'000 $'000 % Ref 
         
  Property       
  Land specialised 0 0 0 0.0%  
  Land non-specialised 0 0 0 0.0%  
  Land improvements 0 73 (73) 0.0%  
  Total Land  0 73 (73) 0.0%  
  Buildings specialised 0 1,534 (1,534) 0.0%  
  Buildings non-specialised 0 69 (69) 0.0%  
  Building improvements 1,895 21 1,874 98.9% 1 
  Total Buildings 1,895 1,624 271 14.3%  
  Total Property 1,895 1,697 198 10.5%  
         
  Plant and equipment      
  Plant, machinery and equipment 1,418 2,092 (674) (47.5%) 2 
  Fixtures, fittings and furniture 0 124 (124) 0.0%  
  Computers and telecommunications 355 1,706 (1,351) (380.5%) 3 
  Paintings and exhibits 35 109 (74) (210.5%)  
  Total Plant and Equipment 1,808 4,031 (2,223) (122.9%)  
         
  Infrastructure      
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  Roads  4,183 3,900 283 6.8%  
  Bridges  950 286 664 69.9% 4 
  Footpaths and cycleways 1,586 4,613 (3,027) (190.9%) 5 
  Drainage  2,750 901 1,849 67.2% 6 
  Recreational, leisure and community facilities 221 311 (90) (40.9%)  
  Parks, open space and streetscapes 686 335 351 51.2% 7 
  Aerodromes  30 59 (29) (95.5%)  
  Notes to the Financial Report for the year 

ended 30 June 2017 
     

        
  Off street car parks 356 17 339 95.2% 8 
  Other infrastructure 310 48 262 84.4% 9 
  Total Infrastructure 11,072 10,470 602 5.4%  
    12,880 14,501 (1,621) (12.6%)  
  Total Capital Works Expenditure 14,775 16,198 (1,423) (9.6%)  
         
  Represented by:      
  New asset expenditure 780 1,999 (1,219) (156.3%) 10 
  Asset renewal expenditure 10,454 13,327 (2,873) (27.5%) 10 
  Asset expansion expenditure 0 268 (268) 100.0% 10 
  Asset upgrade expenditure 3,541 604 2,937 82.9% 10 
  Total Capital Works Expenditure 14,775 16,198 (1,423) (9.6%)  
         
         
 Var Explanation       
 Ref        
 1 Annual budget for Buildings were combined into building improvements, were the actuals are split over a number of 

categories. The reduction in total buildings is due to the deferral of public toilet renewal and reduction in improvements 
at the Holiday Parks. 

 

 2 Purchase of 3 new trucks that were budgeted to 
occur in the 2015/16 financial year. 
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 3 Flagstaff Hill sound and light show renewal was undertaken, however it was budgeted to occur in the 2015/16 financial 
year. 

 

 4 Delay in the timing of the Ziegler Parade bridge construction.  
 5 City Centre Renewal project commenced during the year, however it was budgeted to occur during the 2015/16 

financial year. 
 

 6 Simpson Street drainage upgrade did not progress as anticipated during the year.  
 7 Public open space projects did not progress as anticipated during the year including, East Warrnambool Community 

Parks, Dennington Recreation Reserve and Brierly Master Plan. 
 

 8 Railway precinct carpark development did not progress as anticipated during the year.  

 9 Livestock exchange improvements have been deferred to later years, and the ticket machine replacement program is to 
be undertaken in 2017/18. 

 

 10 During the 2016/17 financial year Council allocated more funds to new projects and asset renewal, specifically the City 
Centre Renewal project with a reduction in asset upgrade with the delay in the Simpson Street drainage project. 
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Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2017    

   2017  2016 
   $'000  $'000 
Note 3 Rates and charges    
 Council uses Capital Improved Value (CIV) as the basis of 

valuation of all properties within the municipal district.  The CIV 
of a property is its imputed market value. 
 
The valuation base used to calculate general rates for 2016/17 
was $6.183 billion (2015/16 $6.019 billion).  The 2016/17 rate in 
the CIV dollar was $0.003713 (2015/16 $0.003666). 

   

      
 Residential 18,439  17,625 

 Municipal charge 4,212  4,064 

 Waste management charge 4,354  4,198 

 Commercial rates 4,409  4,371 

 Vacant Land Rates 843  864 

 Industrial rates 1,606  1,531 

 Urban farm rates 399  380 

 Cultural and recreational land rates 64  63 

 Total rates and charges 34,326  33,096 
      
 The date of the latest general revaluation of land for rating 

purposes within the municipal district was 1 January 2016, the 
valuation was first applied to the rating period commencing 1 
July 2016. 

   

      
Note 4 Statutory fees and fines    
 Parking fines 552  446 

 Animal control 459  328 

 Town planning and building 446  283 

 Health and local laws 170  137 

 Permits and certificates 184  175 

 Total statutory fees and fines 1,811  1,369 
      
Note 5 User fees    
 Property management 696  658 
 Indoor aquatic centre 2,160  2,078 
 Children's services 2,074  2,343 
 Multi purpose sports stadiums 1,123  1,062 
 Cultural centres 1,439  1,327 
 Regulatory control 1,468  1,446 
 Tourism and promotion 1,328  1,848 
 Foreshore holiday parks 2,753  2,828 
 Livestock Exchange 1,217  1,407 
 Aged services fees 790  829 
 Other fees and charges 239  387 
 Total user fees 15,287  16,213 
      
 
Note 6 

Grants 2017  2016 

   $'000 $'000  
 Grants were received in respect of the following:    
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 Summary of grants    
 Commonwealth funded grants 7,530  2,985 
 State funded grants 13,928  14,447 
 Total grants received 21,457  17,432 
      
      
 Operating Grants    
      
 Recurrent - Commonwealth Government    
   Victoria Grants Commission - unallocated 4,406  1,415 
   Victoria Grants Commission - local roads 950  320 
   Aged services 820  240 
   Other 85  85 
 Recurrent - State Government    
   Port operations 196  96 
   Employment initiatives 7  25 
   Economic development 87  37 
   Family and children 5,306  4,711 
   Aged services 1,855  2,175 
   Recreation 264  155 
   Cultural centres 201  309 
   Rural access 273  290 
   Festivals and Events 0  19 
   Environmental initiatives 67  62 
   School crossing supervision 116  107 
   Pension rebate 622  600 
   Other 171  174 
 Total recurrent operating grants 15,424   10,820 
      
 Non-Recurrent - State Government    
   Economic development 12  117 
   Family and children 89  322 
   Aged services 106  142 
   Festivals and Events 0  76 
   Infrastructure services 0  185 
 Total non-recurrent operating grants 207  842 
 Total operating grants 15,630  11,662 
      
 Capital Grants    
      
 Recurrent - Commonwealth Government    
   Roads to recovery 1,019  925 
 Recurrent - State Government    
 Total recurrent capital grants 1,019  925 
      
 Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government    
   Infrastructure services 250  0 
 Non-Recurrent - State Government    
   Infrastructure services 4,384  3,570 
   Recreation and culture 153  467 
   Environmental initiatives 22  532 
   Family and community 0  62 
   Other 0  214 
 Total non-recurrent capital grants 4,808  4,845 
 Total capital grants 5,827  5,770 
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 Unspent grants received on condition that they be spent in a specific 
manner 

  

 Balance at start of year 997  2,090 
 Received during the financial year and remained unspent at 

balance date 
944  877 

 Received in prior years and spent during the financial year (482)  (1,970) 
 Balance at year end 1,459  997 
      
         2017  2016 
Note 7 Contributions $'000  $'000 
 Monetary 2,379  1,664 
 Non-monetary 7,638  7,936 
 Total contributions 10,017  9,600 
       Contributions of non-monetary assets were received in relation to 

the following asset classes. 
   

 Land 0  418 
 Bridges 335  56 
 Roads 2,422  3,066 
 Drainage 3,382  1,353 
 Footpaths and cycleways 651  1,057 
 Land under roads 230  924 
 Specialised building 36  1,010 
 Paintings and Exhibits 499  0 
 Other 83  52 
 Total non-monetary contributions 7,638  7,936 
      
Note 8 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and 

equipment 
   

 Proceeds of Sale 711  381 
 Written down value of assets disposed       
     R.S.L Building (transfer of ownership) (1,302)   0 
     Mortlake Rd Culvert (transfer of ownerhip) (733)   0 
     Other (1,141)   (929) 
 Total net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, 

plant and equipment 
(2,465)   (548) 

      
Note 9 Other income    
 Interest  402  482 
 Infrastructure services 37  39 
 Recreation & cultural programs 17  15 
 Family and community 10  6 
 Reimbursements 218  188 
 Other 145  167 
 Total other income 829  897 
      
Note 10 
(a) 

Employee costs    

 Wages and salaries 26,603  25,291 
 WorkCover 823  711 
 Casual Staff 1,265  1,313 
 Superannuation 2,615  2,440 
 Fringe Benefit Tax 269  258 
 Total employee costs 31,575  30,013 
      
Note 10 
(b) 

Superannuation    
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 Council made contributions to the following funds:    
      
 Defined benefit fund    
 Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund 

(Vision Super) 
259  264 

   259  264 
      
 Employer contributions payable at reporting date 0  0 
      
 Accumulation funds    
 Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund 

(Vision Super) 
2,343  2,164 

 Employer contributions - other funds 13  11 
   2,356  2,175 
      
 Employer contributions payable at reporting date 0  0 
      
 Refer to note 32 for further information relating to Council's 

superannuation obligations 
   

    

    

      
   2017  2016 
   $'000  $'000 
Note 
11 

Materials and services    

 Infrastructure services 7,385  6,113 
 Waste management 3,163  2,185 
 Recreation and cultural services 3,949  4,046 
 Children's services 1,167  1,104 
 Family day care 407  609 
 Corporate services 4,199  4,945 
 Tourism and promotion 2,310  2,252 
 Aged services 834  811 
 Foreshore caravan parks 649  663 
 Livestock Exchange 415  481 
 Health and local laws 688  477 
 Other 438  645 
 Total materials and services 25,604  24,331 
      
 
 
Note 
12 

Bad and doubtful debts    

 Other debtors 259  210 
 Total bad and doubtful debts 259  210 
      
Note 
13 

Depreciation and amortisation    

 Property 1,962  1,842 
 Infrastructure 7,603  6,995 
 Plant and equipment 1,371  1,329 
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 Total depreciation and amortisation 10,936  10,166 
      
 Refer to note 22 for a more detailed breakdown of depreciation and 

amortisation charges 
  

      
Note 
14 

Borrowing costs    

 Interest - borrowings 492  601 
 Total borrowing costs 492  601 
      
Note 
15 

Other expenses    

 Auditors' remuneration - VAGO - audit of the financial statements, 
performance statement and grant acquittals 

57  42 

 Auditors' remuneration - Internal 73  64 
 Councillors' allowances 235  248 
 Operating lease rentals 419  387 
 Other 0  2 
 Total other expenses 784  743 
      
Note 
16 

Investment in associates    

      
 Investments in associates accounted for by the equity method are:    
   - Corangamite Regional Library Corporation 535  493 
      
 Corangamite Regional Library Corporation    
      
 Background    
 Warrnambool City Council in conjunction with Colac Otway Shire, 

Corangamite Shire Council and Moyne Shire Council have an interest in 
the Corangamite Regional Library Corporation.  The Library services 
much of the population of the South West Victoria and Warrnambool 
City Council currently has a 38.5% equity interest (38.5% in 2014/15). 

   

      
 Fair value of Council's investment in Corangamite Regional Library 

Corporation 
535  493 

         2017  2016 

   $'000  $'000 

Note 
16 

Investment in associates (cont.)    

      
 Council's share of accumulated surplus / (deficit)    
  Council's share of accumulated (deficit) at start of year (213)  (390) 
  Reported (deficit) for year 36  49 

  Transfers (to) / from reserves 92  125 
  Movement in equity share 6  3 
  Council's share of accumulated (deficit) at end of year (79)  (213) 
      
 Council's share of reserves    
  Council's share of reserves at start of year 706  831 
  Transfers (to) / from reserves (92)  (125) 
  Council's share of reserves at end of year 614  706 
      
 Movement in carrying value of specific investment    
  Carrying value of investment at start of year 493  441 
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  Share of surplus/(deficit) for year 36  49 
  Share of asset revaluation 0  0 
  Distributions received 0  0 
  Movement in equity share 6  3 
  Carrying value of investment at end of year 535  493 
       Council's share of contingent liabilities and contingent assets 535  493 
      
Note 
17 

Cash and cash equivalents    

 Cash on hand 30  29 

 Cash at bank 1,534  2,198 

 Term deposits 0  1,000 

   1,564  3,227 
      
 Councils cash and cash equivalents are subject to external restrictions 

that limit amounts available for discretionary use.  These include: 
   

  - Resort and recreation reserve 422  314 
  - Trust funds and deposits (Note 24) 648  720 
  Total restricted funds 1,070  1,034 
  Total unrestricted cash and cash equivalents  494  2,193 
      
 Intended allocations    
 Although not externally restricted the following amounts have been 

allocated for specific future purposes by Council: 
   

  - Cash held to fund carried forward capital works 4,581  2,513 
 Total funds subject to intended allocations 4,581  2,513 
      
 Refer also to Note 19 for details of other financial assets held by 

Council. 
   

      
 
 
Note 
18 

Trade and Other Receivables    

      
 Current    
 Rates debtors 933  1,107 

 Other debtors 2,828  2,036 

 Provision for doubtful debts (125)  (117) 

 Loans and advances to community organisations 90  36 

 Net GST receivable 532  396 

 Total current trade and other receivables 4,258  3,458 
      
 Non-Current    
 Loans and advances to community organisations 87  161 

 Total non-current trade and other receivables 87  161 
 Total trade and other receivables 4,345  3,619 
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 (a) Ageing of Receivables    
 At balance date other debtors representing financial assets were past 

due but not impaired.  The ageing of the Council's trade and other 
receivables (excluding statutory receivables) was: 

   

 Current (not yet due) 2,489  1,790 
 Past due by up to 30 days 61  80 
 Past due between 31 and 180 days 153  107 
 Past due between 181 and 365 days 105  39 
 Past due by more than 1 year 26  20 
 Total trade and other receivables 2,835  2,036 
      
 (b) Movement in provisions for doubtful debts    
 Balance at the beginning of the year 117  117 
 New Provisions recognised during the year 125  117 
 Amounts already provided for and written off as uncollectible (117)  (117) 
 Amounts provided for but recovered during the year 0  0 
 Balance at end of year 125  117 
      
Note 
19 

Other Financial Assets    

 Term deposits 12,000  9,000 
 Total other financial assets 12,000  9,000 
      
Note 
20 

Inventories    

 Inventories held for sale 180  111 

 Total inventories 180  111 

  
 
 

    

Note 
21 

Other Assets    

 Prepayments 304  155 

 Accrued income 434  266 

 Total other assets 738  421 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Warrnambool City Council 4 September 2017 
Minutes for Ordinary Meeting Page | 79 

Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2017       

            
Note 
22 

Property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment 

        

              At Fair 
Value 
30 June 
2016 

Acquisitions Contributions Revaluation Depreciat
ion 
Expense 

Disposal Write 
Offs 

Transfers At Fair Value 
30 June 2017 

 

 Land 161,366 73 230 0 (23) (156) 0 0 161,490  
 Buildings 135,930 1,484 36 0 (1,939) (1,302) 0 12 134,223  
 Plant and 

equipment 
18,762 3,867 499 0 (1,371) (245) 0 (12) 21,501  

 Infrastructure 328,214 6,552 6,873 11,695 (7,603) (1,488) 0 (0) 344,243  
 Works in Progress 2,937 4,222 0 0 0 0 (1,521) 0 5,638  
 Total 647,209 16,198 7,638 11,695 (10,936) (3,191) (1,521) (0) 667,094  
            
            
 Summary of Works 

in Progress 
          

  Opening 
WIP 

Additions Transfers Write Offs Closing 
WIP 

     

 Buildings 278 140 0 (201) 217      
 Plant and 

equipment 
14 163 0 (14) 163      

 Infrastructure 2,645 3,918 0 (1,306) 5,257      
 Total 2,937 4,222 0 (1,521) 5,638      
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Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2017        

             
Note 22 Property, infrastructure, plant and 

equipment (cont.) 
        

             
  Land - 

specialised 
Land - 
non 
specialis
ed 

Land 
improve
ments 

Total 
Land 

Buildings - 
specialised 

Buildings - 
non 
specialised 

Building 
Improve
ments 

Total 
Buildings 

Work in 
Progress 

Total 
Property 

 

Land and Buildings            
At fair value 1 July 2016 154,984 5,871 824 161,678 148,848 2,996 764 152,608 278 314,565  
Accumulated 
depreciation at 1 July 
2016 

0 0 (312) (312) (16,500) (0) (178) (16,678) 0 (16,990)  

  154,984 5,871 512 161,366 132,348 2,996 586 135,930 278 297,575  
Movements in fair value            
Acquisition of assets at 
fair value 

0 0 73 73 1,394 69 21 1,484 140 1,697  

Non-cash contributed 
assets 

230 0 0 230 36 0 0 36 0 266  

Revaluation 
increments/decrements 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  

Fair value of assets 
disposed 

(156) 0 0 (156) (1,543) 0 0 (1,543) 0 (1,699)  

                                0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (201) (201)  
Transfers  3,145 (3,145) 0 0 12 0 0 12 0 12  
  3,219 (3,145) 73 147 (100) 69 21 (10) (61) 76  
Movements in 
accumulated 
depreciation 

           

Depreciation 0 0 (23) (23) (1,877) (39) (23) (1,939) 0 (1,962)  
Accumulated 0 0 0 0 241 0 0 241 0 241  
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depreciation of disposals 
Impairment losses 
recognised in operating 
result 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  

Revaluation 
increments/decrements 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  

  0 0 (23) (23) (1,637) (39) (23) (1,699) 0 (1,721)  
             
At fair value 30 June 2017 158,204 2,726 896 161,825 148,749 3,065 785 152,599 217 314,641  
Accumulated 
depreciation at 30 June 
2017 

0 0 (335) (335) (18,136) (39) (201) (18,376) 0 (18,711)  

  158,204 2,726 561 161,490 130,612 3,026 584 134,223 217 295,930  
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Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2017     

        
Note 22 Property, infrastructure, plant and 

equipment (cont.) 
     

        
  Plant machinery and equipment Fixtures, fittings and 

furniture 
Computers 
and 
telecomms 

Paintings and 
exhibits 

Work in 
Progress 

Total plant 
and 
equipment 

Plant & Equipment       
At fair value 1 July 2016 8,496 5,506 4,041 11,012 14 29,069 
Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 
2016 

(4,609) (4,383) (1,301) 0 0 (10,293) 

  3,887 1,123 2,740 11,012 14 18,777 
        
Movements in fair value       
Acquisition of assets at fair value 1,929 124 1,706 109 163 4,031 
Contributed assets 0 0 0 499 0 499 
Revaluation increments/decrements 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Fair value of assets disposed (1,326) (7) 0 (24) 0 (1,357) 
Work in progress expensed to 
operating result 

0 0 0 0 (14) (14) 

Transfers  0 7 0 (20) 0 (12) 
  602 124 1,706 564 149 3,146 
Movements in accumulated 
depreciation 

      

Depreciation and amortisation (986) (99) (285) 0 0 (1,371) 
Accumulated depreciation of disposals 1,105 7 0 0 0 1,112 
Impairment losses recognised in 
operating result 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

Revaluation increments/decrements 0 0 0 0 0 0 
  119 (92) (285) 0 0 (259) 
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At fair value 30 June 2017 9,098 5,630 5,747 11,577 163 32,215 
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 
2017 

(4,490) (4,475) (1,586) 0 0 (10,551) 

  4,608 1,156 4,161 11,577 163 21,664 
Note 22 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 

(cont.) 
       

   Roads Bridges Foot-
paths, 
Cycle-
ways 

Drain-
age 

Recreational, 
leisure and 
community 

Parks open 
spaces and 
streetscapes 

Aerodrome Off street 
car parks 

Other 
infrastructure 

Works 
in 
progress 

Total 
Infrastructure 

Infrastructure             

At fair value 1 July 2016  246,789 14,994 46,385 76,292 5,118 10,274 9,900 13,787 6,548 2,645 432,734 
Accumulated 
depreciation at 1 July 
2016 

 (42,379) (4,028) (19,366) (20,479) (3,745) (5,086) (1,150) (2,488) (3,156) 0 (101,876) 

   204,411 10,966 27,020 55,814 1,373 5,188 8,750 11,298 3,392 2,645 330,859 
Movements in fair 
value 

            

Acquisition of assets at 
fair value 

 3,879 286 715 901 311 335 59 17 48 3,918 10,470 

Contributed assets  2,422 335 651 3,382 0 0 0 83 0 0 6,873 
Revaluation 
increments/decrements 

 0 17,703 468 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 18,171 

Fair value of assets 
disposed 

 (640) (812) (54) (595) 0 (21) 0 (18) (37) 0 (2,177) 

Work in progress 
expensed to operating 
result 

 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1,306) (1,306) 

Transfers   (290) 0 (283) 0 59 (602) 0 0 1,115 0 (0) 
   5,371 17,511 1,498 3,688 370 (288) 59 83 1,127 2,612 32,030 
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Movements in 
accumulated 
depreciation 

            

Depreciation and 
amortisation 

 (3,983) (169) (1,140) (807) (213) (84) (216) (218) (772) 0 (7,603) 

Accumulated 
depreciation of 
disposals 

 323 79 28 212 0 15 0 9 24 0 689 

Impairment losses 
recognised in 
operating result 

 0 (110) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (110) 

Revaluation 
increments/decrem
ents 

  0 (5,748) (79) (540) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (6,366) 

Transfers     (146) 0 (92) 0 28 (349) 0 0 558 0 (0) 
      (3,807) (5,948) (1,283) (1,135) (185) (418) (216) (209) (191) 0 (13,390) 
              
At fair value 30 June 
2017 

 252,161 32,505 47,883 79,980 5,489 9,986 9,959 13,870 7,675 5,257 464,764 

Accumulated 
depreciation at 30 
June 2017 

 (46,185) (9,975) (20,649) (21,614) (3,930) (5,503) (1,366) (2,697) (3,347) 0 (115,266) 

   205,976 22,530 27,236 58,367 1,559 4,482 8,593 11,172 4,328 5,257 349,499 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Warrnambool City Council 4 September 2017 
Minutes for Ordinary Meeting Page | 85 

Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2017   

      
Note 22 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)    
      
 Valuation of land and buildings    
 An independent valuation of Council’s specialised buildings was performed by SPM Consultants 

in consultation with Councils Coordinator Strategic Asset Management Officer Mr John Finnerty.  
The valuation was performed using either the market based direct comparison method or 
depreciated replacement cost, adjusted for restrictions in use. The effective date of the 
valuation is 30 June 2015. 

       An independent valuation of Council’s specialised land and land under roads was performed by 
Preston Rowe Paterson South West Rating (AAPI 62337).  The valuation was performed using 
the market based direct comparison method and adjusted for restrictions in use. The effective 
date of the valuation is 30 June 2015. 

      
 An independent valuation of Council’s non-specialised land was performed by Preston Rowe 

Paterson South West Rating (AAPI 62337).  The valuation was performed using the market 
based direct comparison method and adjusted for restrictions in use. The effective date of the 
valuation is 30 June 2016. 

      
 Specialised land is valued at fair value using site values adjusted for englobo (undeveloped 

and/or unserviced) characteristics, access rights and private interest of other parties and 
entitlements of infrastructure assets and services.  This adjustment is an unobservable input in 
the valuation. The adjustment has no impact on the comprehensive income statement. 

       Any significant movements in the unobservable inputs for land and land under roads will have a 
significant impact on the fair value of these assets. 

       Details of the Council's land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 
30 June 2017 are as follows: 

   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
   $'000 $'000 $'000 
      
  Land 0 2,726 0 
  Specialised land 0 0 158,204 
  Land improvements 0 0 561 
  Heritage buildings 0 0 0 
  Buildings 0 3,026 0 
  Specialised Buildings 0 0 130,612 
  Buildings improvements 0 0 584 
  Total 0 5,752 289,961 
      
 Valuation of infrastructure    

 A valuation of infrastructure assets was performed by Mr John Finnerty, Coordinator Strategic 
Asset Management, with Warrnambool City Council. 

      
 The valuation is at fair value based on replacement cost less accumulated depreciation as at the 

date of valuation. 

      
 Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2017 

 
Details of the Council's infrastructure and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 30 
June 2017 are as follows: 

   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
   $'000 $'000 $'000 
  Roads 0 0 205,976 
  Bridges 0 0 22,530 
  Footpaths and cycleways 0 0 27,236 
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  Drainage 0 0 58,367 
  Recreational, leisure and community facilities 0 0 1,559 
  Parks, open space and streetscapes 0 0 4,482 
  Aerodromes 0 0 8,593 
  Offstreet car parks 0 0 11,172 
  Other infrastructure 0 0 4,328 
  Total 0 0 344,242 
    

      

     

      

 Valuation of Paintings and exhibits    
 Paintings and exhibits consist of Paintings, Other Exhibits and items in the Reference Collection. 

The valuation was carried out by Mr Charles Nodrum, Approved Valuer for the Australian 
Government's Cultural Gifts Program based on market value. 

   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
   $'000 $'000 $'000 
      
  Paintings & exhibits 0 11,577 0 
  Total 0 11,577 0 
      

 Description of significant unobservable inputs into level 3 
valuations 

  

      
 Specialised land and land under roads is valued using a market 

based direct comparison technique. Significant unobservable 
inputs include the extent and impact of restriction of use and the 
market cost of land per square metre. The extent and impact of 
restrictions on use varies and results in a reduction to 
surrounding land values between 70% and 95%. The market value 
of land varies significantly depending on the location of the land 
and the current market conditions. Currently land values range 
between $0.12 and $939 per square metre. 

  

      
 Specialised buildings are valued using a depreciated replacement 

cost technique. Significant unobservable inputs include the 
current replacement cost and remaining useful lives of buildings. 
Current replacement costs is calculated on a square metre basis 
and ranges from $258 and $3905 per square metre. The 
remaining useful lives of buildings are determined on the basis of 
the current condition of buildings and vary from 10 years to 115 
years. Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in market 
conditions, with any increase or decrease in cost flowing through 
to the valuation. Useful lives of buildings are sensitive to changes 
in expectations ore requirements that could either shorten or 
extend the useful lives of buildings. 
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 Infrastructure assets are valued based on the depreciated 
replacement cost. Significant unobservable inputs include the 
current replacement cost and remaining useful lives of 
infrastructure. The remaining useful lives of infrastructure assets 
are determined on the basis of the current condition of the asset 
and vary from 1 year to 200 years. Replacement cost is sensitive 
to changes in market condition, with any increase or decrease in 
cost flowing through to the valuation. Useful lives of 
infrastructure are sensitive to changes in use, expectations or 
requirements that could either shorten or extend the useful lives 
of infrastructure assts. 
 
 
 

  

    2017 2016 
    $'000 $'000 
 Reconciliation of specialised land    
 Land under roads  3,374       3,144  
 Crown land  75,144     75,143  
 Council freehold land  79,686     76,697  
 Parks and reserves  0 0 
 Total specialised land  158,204   154,984  
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Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2017       

          
       2017  2016 
       $'000  $'000 
Note 23 Trade and other payables        
          
 Current        
 Trade payables     930  625 

 Net GST payable     137  184 

 Accrued expenses     3,190  3,516 

 Fire service liability     131  239 

       4,388  4,564 
          
Note 24 Trust funds and deposits        
 Refundable developer deposits     542  574 

 Fire services levy     0  0 

 Contract retention amounts     0  9 

 Other refundable deposits     106  137 

 Total trust funds and deposits     648  720 
          
 Purpose and nature of items        
 Refundable deposits - Deposits are taken by council as a form of surety in a number of circumstances, including in relation to building works, 

tender deposits, contract deposits and the use of civic facilities. 

          
 Fire Service Levy - Council is the collection agent for fire services levy on behalf of the State Government.  Council remits amounts received on a 

quarterly basis.  Amounts disclosed here will be remitted to the State Government in line with that process. 

          
 Retention Amounts - Council has a contractual right to retain certain amounts until a contractor has met certain requirements or a related 

warrant or defect period has elapsed. Subject to the satisfactory completion of the contractual obligations, or the elapsing of time, these 
amounts will be paid to the relevant contractor in line with Council's contractual obligations. 
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     Employee  Landfill  
Restoration 

 Total 

Note 25 Provisions   $'000  $'000  $'000 

 2017        
 Balance at beginning of the financial year   6,237  0  6,237 
 Additional provisions   684  864  1,549 
 Amounts used   (942)  0  (942) 
 Change in the discounted amount arising because of time and the effect of 

any change in the discount rate 
  652  0  652 

 Balance at the end of the financial year   6,632  864  7,496 
          
 2016        
 Balance at beginning of the financial year   6,081  0  6,081 
 Additional provisions   939  0  939 
 Amounts used   (1,101)  0  (1,101) 
 Change in the discounted amount arising because of time and the effect of 

any change in the discount rate 
  318  0  318 

 Balance at the end of the financial year   6,237  0  6,237 
          
       2017  2016 
 (a) Employee 

benefits 
Employee provisions     $'000  $'000 

  Current provisions expected to be wholly settled within 12 
months 

      

  Annual leave     1,901  1,878 

  Long service leave     468  451 

       2,369  2,329 
          
  Current provisions expected to be wholly settled after 12 

months 
      

  Annual leave     221  214 

  Long service leave     3,456  3,125 

       3,677  3,339 
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  Total current employee provisions     6,046  5,668 
          
  Non-current        
  Long service leave     586  569 

  Total non-current employee provisions     586  569 
          
  Aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions:        
  Current     6,046  5,668 
  Non-current     586  569 
  Total aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions     6,632  6,237 
          
          
 (b) Employee 

benefits 
Landfill Restoration        

  Current     80  0 
  Non-current     784  0 
       864  0 
        

       

          
       2017  2016 

       $'000  $'000 

Note 26 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings        
          
 Current        
 Borrowings - secured (1)     1,835  1,985 

       1,835  1,985 

 Non-current        
 Borrowings - secured (1)     6,079  7,915 

       6,079  7,915 

 Total     7,914  9,900 
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 (1) Borrowings are secured over councils rate revenue        
          
 (a) The maturity profile for Council's borrowings is:        
  Not later than one year     1,835  1,985 
  Later than one year and not later than five years     4,623  5,659 
  Later than five years     1,457  2,256 
       7,914  9,900 
          
Note 27 Reserves   Balance at 

beginning 
of 
reporting 
period 

 Increment 
(decrement) 

 Balance at end 
of reporting 
period 

 (a) Asset revaluation reserves   $'000  $'000  $'000 
          
 2017        
  Property        
  Land   124,063  0  124,063 

  Buildings   99,181  0  99,181 

     223,244  0  223,244 
  Infrastructure        
  Roads   156,007  (540)  155,467 

  Bridges   3,501  11,845  15,346 

  Footpaths and cycleways   0  390  390 

  Drainage   21,218  0  21,218 

  Recreational, leisure and community facilities   0  0  0 

  Waste Management   0  0  0 

  Parks, open space and streetscapes   0  0  0 

  Corangamite Regional Library Corporation   706  0  706 

  Artworks   1,585  0  1,585 

  Other infrastructure   29,041  0  29,041 

     212,058  11,695  223,753 
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  Total asset revaluation reserves   435,302  11,695  446,997 
          
 2016        
  Property        
  Land   124,035  28  124,063 
  Buildings   93,774  5,407  99,181 
     217,809  5,435  223,244 
  Infrastructure        
  Roads   156,007  0  156,007 
  Bridges   3,501  0  3,501 
  Footpaths and cycleways   0  0  0 
  Drainage   21,218  0  21,218 
  Recreational, leisure and community facilities   0  0  0 
  Waste Management   0  0  0 
  Parks, open space and streetscapes   0  0  0 
  Corangamite Regional Library Corporation   706  0  706 
  Artworks   1,585  0  1,585 
  Other infrastructure   29,041  0  29,041 
     212,058  0  212,058 
  Total asset revaluation reserves   429,867  5,435  435,302 
          
  The asset revaluation reserve is used to record the increased (net) value of Councils assets over time.   
  Corangamite Regional Library Reserve recognises the fair value of revalued assets in their books. 
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Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2017 

          
Note 27 Reserves (cont.)   Balance at 

beginning 
of 
reporting 
period 

 Increment 
(decrement) 

 Balance at end 
of reporting 
period 

 (b) Other reserves   $'000  $'000  $'000 
          
 2017        
 credit Main drainage fund   679  (612)  67 

 credit Committed reserve   3,953  (474)  3,479 

 debit Heritage restoration fund   43  1  44 

 debit Insurance claims reserve   90  0  90 

 debit Information technology reserve   131  0  131 

 debit Art gallery reserve   44  1  45 

 debit Resort and recreation reserve   314  108  422 

 debit Car park fund   479  244  723 

 debit North of the merri developer contribution reserve   363  9  372 

 credit Hopkins point road developer contribution reserve   128  (41)  87 

 debit Cell D   0  639  639 
  Total other reserves   6,224  (125)  6,099 
          
 2016        
  Main drainage fund   1,187  (508)  679 
  Committed reserve   2,907  1,046  3,953 
  Heritage restoration fund   42  1  43 
  Insurance claims reserve   90  0  90 
  Information technology reserve   131  0  131 
  Art gallery reserve   43  1  44 
  Resort and recreation reserve   215  99  314 
  Car park fund   755  (275)  479 
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  North of the merri developer contribution reserve   363  0  363 
  Hopkins point road developer contribution reserve   0  128  128 
  Total other reserves   5,733  492  6,224 
          
  Main Drainage Fund is maintained specifically for future major 

drainage works. 
      

  Committed Reserve is specifically for predetermined works and Councils small 
infrastructure fund. 

   

  Heritage Restoration Fund is maintained specifically to grant loans for heritage 
works. 

    

  Insurance Claims Reserve is maintained specifically for Council's self-
insurance. 

     

  Information Technology Reserve is maintained specifically for major information technology upgrades.   
  Art Gallery Reserve is maintained specifically for the purchase of 

art pieces. 
      

  Resort and Recreation Reserve is maintained specifically for public open space 
works. 

    

  Car Park Fund is maintained specifically for future major car park 
works. 

      

  North of the Merri Developer Contributions Reserve is maintained specifically for contributions held in this growth area. 
  Hopkins Point Road Reserve Developer Contribution Reserve is maintained specifically for contributions held for in this 

growth area. 
  Cell D Developer Contribution Reserve is maintained specifically for contributions held for the growth area of Dales Rd & 

Aberline Rd. 
          
       2017  2016 
Note 28 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to surplus/(deficit)     $'000  $'000 
          
 Surplus/(deficit) for the year     11,649  12,044 
          
 Depreciation/amortisation     10,936  10,166 
 Profit / (loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant & equipment    2,465  548 
 Contributions - Non-monetary assets     (7,638)  (7,936) 
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 Share of net profit/(loss) of associates     (36)  (49) 
          
 Change in assets and liabilities:        
 (Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables     (590)  434 
 (Increase)/decrease in prepayments     (149)  120 
 (Increase)/decrease in accrued income     (168)  (10) 
 (Increase)/decrease in inventories     (69)  7 
 Increase/(decrease) in trust deposits     (72)  (71) 
 Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables     197  (3,626) 
 Increase/(decrease) in provisions     1,258  157 
 Increase/(decrease) in accrued expenses     (201)  2,477 
          
 Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities     17,582  14,261 
          
          
       2017  2016 

       $'000  $'000 
Note 29 Financing arrangements        
 Bank overdraft facility     200  200 
 Credit card facilities     150  113 
 Total facilities     350  313 
          
 Used facilities     0  0 
 Unused facilities      350  313 
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Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2017   

        

Note 30 Commitments      
 The Council has entered into the following commitments.    
        
   Not later 

than 1 
year 

Later than 1 
year and not 
later than 2 
years 

Later than 2 years 
and not later than 5 
years 

Later than 5 
years 

Total 

   $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
        
 2017      
        
 Operating      
  Recycling 387 395   782 
  Waste collection 799 815   1,614 
  Transactional Banking 14    14 
  Cleaning services 256 261   516 
  Security Services 126 128   254 
  Internal Audit 24    24 
  Meals for delivery 190 194   384 
  Total 1,795 1,792 0 0 3,588 
        
 Capital      
  Information Technology 257    257 
  Infrastructure 185    185 
  Roads 4,251    4,251 
  Drainage 771    771 
  Total 5,463 0 0 0 5,463 
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   Not later 
than 1 
year 

Later than 1 
year and not 
later than 2 
years 

Later than 2 years 
and not later than 5 
years 

Later than 5 
years 

Total 

   $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 2016      
        
 Operating      
  Recycling 378 393   771 
  Waste collection 779 810   1,589 
  Cleaning services 257 261 265  783 
  Security Services 123 126 128  377 
  Internal Audit 24    24 
  Meals for delivery 248 252 256  755 
  Council Election 210    210 
  Total 2,018 1,842 649 0 4,509 
        
 Capital      
  Information Technology 1,735 0 0 0 1,735 
  Fleet 435 0 0 0 435 
  Roads 50 0 0 0 50 
  Drainage 1,208 0 0 0 1,208 
  Total 3,428 0 0 0 3,428 
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Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2017   

        
     2017  2016 
     $'000  $'000 
Note 
31 

Operating lease commitments      

 At  the reporting date, the Council had the following 
obligations under non-cancellable operating leases for the 
lease of equipment and land and buildings for use within 
Council's activities (these obligations are not recognised as 
liabilities): 

    

        
  Not later than one year   400  298 
  Later than one year and not later than five years  812  591 
  Later than five years      
     1,212  889 
        
Note 
32 

Superannuation      

        
 Council makes the majority of its employer superannuation contributions in respect of its 

employees to the Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (the Fund). This Fund has two 
categories of membership, accumulation and defined benefit, each of which is funded 
differently. Obligations for contributions to the Fund are recognised as an expense in 
Comprehensive Income Statement when they are made or due. 

        
 Accumulation      
 The Fund’s accumulation category, Vision Super Saver, receives both employer and 

employee contributions on a progressive basis.  Employer contributions are normally based 
on a fixed percentage of employee earnings (for the year ended 30 June 2017, this was 
9.5% as required under Superannuation Guarantee Legislation).   

        

 Defined Benefit      

 Council does not use defined benefit accounting for its defined benefit obligations under 
the Fund's Defined Benefit category.  This is because the Fund's Defined Benefit category is 
a pooled multi-employer sponsored plan.  

        
 There is no proportional split of the defined benefit liabilities, assets or costs between the 

participating employers as the defined benefit obligation is a floating obligation between 
the participating employers and the only time that the aggregate obligation is allocated to 
specific employers is when a call is made.  As a result, the level of participation of the 
Council in the Fund cannot be measured as a percentage compared with other participating 
employers.  Therefore, the Fund Actuary is unable to allocate benefit liabilities, assets and 
costs between employers for the purposes of AASB 119. 

        
 Funding arrangements 
 Council makes employer contributions to the Defined Benefit category of the Fund at rates 

determined by the Trustee on the advice of the Fund Actuary.   

        
 As at 30 June 2016, an interim actuarial investigation was held as the Fund provides lifetime 

pensions in the Defined Benefit category. The vested benefit index (VBI) of the Defined 
Benefit category of which Council is a contributing employer was 102.0%.  To determine the 
VBI, the Fund Actuary used the following long-term assumptions: 
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 Net investment returns     6.5%pa 
Salary inflation               3.5%pa 
Price inflation (CPI)        2.5%pa 

        
 Vision Super has advised that the VBI at 30 June 2017 was 103.1%. The VBI is to be used as 

the primary funding indicator. Because the VBI was above 100%, the 2016 interim actuarial 
investigation determined the Defined Benefit category was in a satisfactory financial 
position and that no change was necessary to the Defined Benefit category’s funding 
arrangements from prior years. 

        
 Employer contributions      
        
 Regular contributions      
 On the basis of the results of the 2016 interim actuarial investigation conducted by the 

Fund Actuary, Council makes employer contributions to the Fund’s Defined Benefit category 
at rates determined by the Fund’s Trustee. For the year ended 30 June 2017, this rate was 
9.5% of members' salaries (9.5% in 2015/16). This rate will increase in line with any increase 
to the contribution rate. In addition, Council reimburses the Fund to cover the excess of the 
benefits paid as a consequence of retrenchment above the funded resignation or 
retirement benefit. 

        
 Funding calls      
 If the Defined Benefit category is in an unsatisfactory financial position at actuarial 

investigation or the Defined Benefit category‘s VBI is below its shortfall limit at any time 
other than the date of the actuarial investigation, the Defined Benefit category has a 
shortfall for the purposes of SPS 160 and the Fund is required to put a plan in place so that 
the shortfall is fully funded within three years of the shortfall occurring. The Fund monitors 
its VBI on a quarterly basis and the Fund has set its shortfall limit at 97%. 

        
 In the event that the Fund Actuary determines that there is a shortfall based on the above 

requirement, the Fund’s participating employers (including Council) are required to make 
an employer contribution to cover the shortfall. Using the agreed methodology, the 
shortfall amount is apportioned between the participating employers based on the pre-1 
July 1993 and post-30 June 1993 service liabilities of the Fund’s Defined Benefit category, 
together with the employer’s payroll at 30 June 1993 and at the date the shortfall has been 
calculated. 

        
 Due to the nature of the contractual obligations between the participating employers and 

the Fund, and that the Fund includes lifetime pensioners and their reversionary 
beneficiaries, it is unlikely that the Fund will be wound up. If there is a surplus in the Fund, 
the surplus cannot be returned to the participating employers. In the event that a 
participating employer is wound-up, the defined benefit obligations of that employer will be 
transferred to that employer’s successor. 

        
 Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2017 

2016 Interim actuarial investigation surplus amounts 
    

 The Fund’s interim actuarial investigation as at 30 June 2016 identified the following in the 
Defined Benefit category of which Council is a contributing employer: 

        
  A VBI surplus of $40.3 million; and      
  A total service liability surplus of $156 million.      
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 The VBI surplus means that the market value of the fund’s assets supporting the Defined 
Benefit obligations exceed the vested benefits that the defined benefit members would 
have been entitled to if they had all exited on 30 June 2016. The total service liability 
surplus means that the current value of the assets in the Fund’s Defined Benefit category 
plus expected future contributions exceeds the value of expected future benefits and 
expenses. Council was notified of the 30 June 2016 VBI during August 2016. 

        
 2017 Full triennial actuarial investigation      
 A full actuarial investigation is being conducted for the Fund’s position as at 30 June 2017. It 

is anticipated that this actuarial investigation will be completed in December 2017. 
 Future superannuation contributions      
 In addition to the disclosed contributions, Warrnambool City Council has paid unfunded 

liability payments to Vision Super totalling $0 in 2016/17 year (2015/16 $0). There were no 
contributions outstanding and no loans issued from or to the above schemes as at 30 June 
2017. The expected contributions to be paid to the Defined Benefit category of Vision Super 
for the year ending 30 June 2018 are $265,000. 

        

Note 
33 

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets      

        
 The Council is unaware of any issues at balance date that would give rise to a contingent 

liability.  The Council acts as guarantor in respect of bank loans provided to the following 
clubs and community groups: 

        
   Original 

Loan 
$'000 

 2017 
$'000 

 2016 
$'000 

        
 (i) City Memorial Bowls Club 2,000  7  8 
  Commonwealth Bank      
        
 (ii) Warrnambool Returned Services Club 2,900  2,634  0 
  Commonwealth Bank      
        
   4,900  2,641  8 
        



Warrnambool City Council 4 September 2017 
Minutes for Ordinary Meeting Page | 101 

 
Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2017   

         
Note 
34 

Financial 
Instruments 

     

         
 (a) Objectives and policies     
 The Council's principal financial instruments comprise cash assets, term deposits, 

receivables (excluding statutory receivables), payables (excluding statutory payables) and 
bank borrowings.  Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, 
including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which 
income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial 
liability and equity instrument is disclosed in Note 1 of the financial statements.  Risk 
management is carried out by senior management under policies approved by the Council.  
These policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure to Council and 
appropriate procedures, controls and risk minimisation. 

         
 (b) Market 

risk 
      

 Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of council financial 
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. The Council's exposure to 
market risk is primarily through  interest rate risk with only insignificant exposure to other 
price risks and no exposure to foreign currency risk.  

         
 Interest rate 

risk 
      

 Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows 
associated with the instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. 
Council's interest rate liability risk arises primarily from long term loans and borrowings at 
fixed rates which exposes Council to fair value interest rate risk / Council does not hold any 
interest bearing financial instruments that are measured at fair value, and therefore has no 
exposure to fair value interest rate risk. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the 
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates.  Council has minimal exposure to cash flow interest rate risk through its cash 
and deposits that are at floating rates. 

 Investment of surplus funds is made with approved financial institutions under the Local 
Government Act 1989. Council manages interest rate risk by adopting an investment policy 
that ensures: 
    - diversification of investment product; 
    - monitoring of return on investment; and 
    - benchmarking of returns and comparison with budget. 
There has been no significant change in the Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies 
and processes for managing interest rate risk or the methods used to measure this risk 
from the previous reporting period. 

 Interest rate movements have not been sufficiently significant during the year to have an 
impact on the Council's year end result. 
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(c)Credit risk 
      

 Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligations under a 
financial instrument and cause Council to make a financial loss. Council have exposure to 
credit risk on some financial assets included in the balance sheet. To help manage this risk: 
   - Council have a policy for establishing credit limits for the entities Council deal with;  
   - Council may require collateral where appropriate; and 
   - Council only invest surplus funds with financial institutions which have a recognised 
credit rating 
     specified in Council's investment policy. 

         
 Receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across the ratepayer, business 

and government sectors. Credit risk associated with the Council's financial assets is minimal 
because the main debtor is secured by a charge over the rateable property. 

 There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired. 

 Council may also be subject to credit risk for transactions which are not included in the 
balance sheet, such as when Council provide a guarantee for another party.  Details of our 
contingent liabilities are disclosed in note 33. 

 The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is 
the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in 
the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements.  Council does not hold any 
collateral. 

         
 (d) Liquidity 

risk 
      

 Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of Council's operational liquidity 
requirements it will not have sufficient funds to settle a transaction when required or will 
be forced to sell a financial asset at below value or may be unable to settle or recover a 
financial asset.  

         
 To help reduce these risks Council: 

   - have a liquidity policy which targets a minimum and average level of cash and cash 
equivalents to 
     be maintained; 
   - have readily accessible standby facilities and other funding arrangements in place; 
   - have a liquidity portfolio structure that requires surplus funds to be invested within 
various bands of 
     liquid instruments;  
   - monitor budget to actual performance on a regular basis; and 
   - set limits on borrowings relating to the percentage of loans to rate revenue and 
percentage of  
     loan principal repayments to rate revenue. 

         

 The Councils maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial 
liabilities as disclosed on the face of the balance sheet and the amounts related to financial 
guarantees disclosed in Note 33, and is deemed insignificant based on prior periods' data 
and current assessment of risk. 
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 There has been no significant change in Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and 
processes for managing liquidity risk or the methods used to measure this risk from the 
previous reporting period. 

 With the exception of borrowings, all financial liabilities are expected to be settled within 
normal terms of trade.  Details of the maturity profile for borrowings are disclosed at note 
26. 

 Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair 
value. 

         
 (e) Fair value       
 Fair value hierarchy 

Council's financial assets and liabilities are not valued in accordance with the fair value 
hierarchy, Council's financial assets and liabilities are measured at amortised cost. 

         
 (f) Sensitivity disclosure analysis     
 Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and 

management's knowledge and experience of the financial markets, Council believes the 
following movements are "reasonably possible" over the next 12 months: 

  - A parallel shift of 1% and -1% in market interest rates (AUD) from year-end rates of 2.0%. 
 These movements will not have a material impact on the valuation of Council's financial 

assets and liabilities, nor will they have a material impact on the results of Council's 
operations. 
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Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2017        

            
Note 
35 

Related party transactions         

            
 (i) Related Parties   2017  2016     
            
 Parent Entity          
 Warrnambool City Council is the parent entity.         
            
 Subsidiaries and Associates         
 Interests in subsidiaries and associates are detailed in note 16.        
            
 (ii) Key Management Personnel         
 Details of persons holding the position of Councillor or other members of key        
 management personnel at any time during the year are:         
     
  Councillor

s 
  Councillor Kylie Gaston 
(Mayor) 

        

     Councillor Michael Neoh         
     Councillor Peter Hulin         
     Councillor Robert Anderson 31/10/2016 - 30/06/2017        
     Councillor Sue Cassidy 31/10/2016 - 30/06/2017        
     Councillor Tony Herbert 31/10/2016 - 30/06/2017        
     Councillor David Owen 31/10/2016 - 30/06/2017        
     Councillor Rob Askew 1/07/2016 - 31/10/2016        
     Councillor Jacinta Ermacora 1/07/2016 - 31/10/2016        
     Councillor Brian Kelson 1/07/2016 - 31/10/2016        
     Councillor Peter Sycopoulis 1/07/2016 - 31/10/2016        
            
  Total Number of Councillors  11  7     
              Chief Executive Officer and other Key Management Personnel 5  10     
              Total Key Management Personnel  16  17     
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 (Iii) Remuneration of Key Management Personnel  2017  2016     
 Total remuneration of key management personnel was as follows: $'000  $'000     
 Short-term benefits   1,309  1,338     
 Long-term benefits   0  53     
 Termination benefits   0  196     
 Total   1,309  1,587     
            
 The numbers of key management personnel whose total remuneration 

from Council  
       

 and any related entities, fall within the following bands:         
            
     2017 

No. 
 2016 

No. 
    

            
    $0 - $9,999   4  0     
    $10,000 - $19,999   4  2     
    $20,000 - $29,999   2  6     
    $30,000 - $39,999   0  1     
    $40,000 - $49,999   0  1     
    $60,000 - $69,999   0  1     
    $70,000 - $79,999   1  0     
    $90,000 - $99,999   0  1     
    $120,000 - $129,999   0  1     
    $160,000 - $169,999   0  1     
    $190,000 - $199,999   4  1     
    $300,000 - $309,999   1  1     
    $390,000 - $399,999   0  1     
     16  17     
            
(iv) Transactions with related parties         
During the period Council entered into the following transactions with 
related parties. 
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 Councillor Related Party Nature of 
Relationship 

Terms and 
Conditions 

 Aggregat
e Total 
$'000 

Nature of 
Transactions 

   

 Cr Ermacora Wannon Water Chairperson Commercial  477 Supply of water and sewage 
services 

  

 Cr Ermacora Wannon Water Chairperson Commercial  (216) Rental of Council site & contribution to 
joint works 

 

 Cr Askew Leahy's Home Living Pty Ltd Controlled Entity Commercial  7 Supply of electrical 
equipment 

   

 Cr Askew Leahy's Electrical Child Controlled 
Entity 

Commercial  91 Electrical repairs and 
maintenance 

  

 Cr Askew Leahy's Electrical Child Controlled 
Entity 

Commercial  (11) Parking permit    

 Cr Gaston Ginger Kitchen Controlled Entity Commercial  1 Supply of food and catering 
services 

  

 Cr Neoh South West Sports Assembly Controlled Entity Commercial  18 Training workshops and contributions to 
community clubs 

 Cr Neoh South West Sports Assembly Controlled Entity Commercial  (4) Rental of venues    
 Cr Cassidy Cassign Spouse 

Controlled Entity 
Commercial  34 Supply and installation of 

signage 
  

 Cr Cassidy Cassign Spouse 
Controlled Entity 

Commercial  (5) Donation for community 
project 

  

 Cr Herbert Motang Park Pty Ltd Controlled Entity Commercial  (88) Developer contribution 
payments 

  

 Cr Owen Warrnambool Surf Life Saving 
Club 

Controlled Entity Commercial   20 Contributions and support to the 
Warrnambool Surf Life Saving Club 

 Cr Owen Warrnambool Surf Life Saving 
Club 

Controlled Entity Commercial   (11) Lease and expenses of Council 
site 

    

 

    2017 
$’000 

 2016 
$‘000 
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(v) Outstanding balances with related parties         
The following balances are outstanding at the end of the reporting period in 
relation to transactions with related parties. 

(72)  0     

         
           
(vi) Loans to/from related parties         
The aggregate amount of loans in existence at balance date that have been made,     
during the reporting year 
(2016/17 Nil). 

guaranteed or secured by the council to a related 
party as follows: 

0  0     

           
(vii) Commitments to/from related parties         
The aggregate amount of commitments  in existence at balance date that have 
been 

       

 made, guaranteed or secured by the council to a related party are as follows: 0  0     
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Note 
36 

Senior Officers Remuneration         

 A Senior Officer is an officer of Council, other than Key Management Personnel, who:     
 (a) has management responsibilities and reports directly to the Chief Executive; or    

 (b) whose total annual remuneration exceeds $142,000.    
            
 The number of Senior Officers other than the Responsible Persons, are shown below in their relevant income bands:    
     2017 

No. 
 2016 

No. 
    

  Income Range:          
    $130,000 - $139,999   0  1     
    $140,000 - $149,999   1  0     
    $150,000 - $159,999   1  1     
     2  2     
            
 Total Remuneration for the reporting year for Senior Officers included above, 

amounted to: 
294  # 285                   

            
Note 
37 

Events occurring after balance date         

 No matters have occurred after balance date that require disclosure in the financial report.       
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Notes to the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2017   

        
        
Note 38  Port of Warrnambool      
        
  The Council is the Committee of Management for the Port of Warrnambool.  

The financial transactions have been included in Council's financial statements 
and are summarised below: 

        
     2017  2016 
     $'000  $'000 
        
  Income      
  Grants - operating   89  96 
  User fees   6  6 
  Grants - capital   107  278 
  Total income   202  380 

        
  Expenditure      
  Materials and services   178  213 
  Capital expenditure   96  118 
  Total Expenditure   274  331 

        
  Profit/(Loss)   (73)  49 

        
        
  The operation of the Port of Warrnambool is by an agreement between 

Warrnambool City Council and the Department of Transport, and any assets are 
returnable on cessation of the agreement. 
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Certification of the Financial Statements     

         
In my opinion the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the Local Government Act 1989, the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 
Regulations 2014, Australian Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional 
reporting requirements. 

 
 
 
 

         
         
         
David Harrington, CA       
Principal Accounting Officer       
         
Date :              
Warrnambool        
         

In our opinion the accompanying financial statements present fairly the financial 
transactions of Warrnambool City Council for the year ended 30 June 2017 and the 
financial position of the Council as at that date. 

 
 
 
          

As at the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any 
particulars in the financial statements to be misleading or inaccurate. 

 
 

         
We have been authorised by the Council and by the Local Government (Planning and 
Reporting) Regulations 2014 to certify the financial statements in their final form. 

 
 

         
         
         
         
         
Councillor Peter Hulin       
Date :    0-Jan-00        
Warrnambool        
         
         
         
         
         
Councillor Mike Neoh       
Date :    0-Jan-00        
Warrnambool        
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PERFORMANCE STATEMENT 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

Description of Municipality 

 
 

 

 

Warrnambool City Council is a municipality covering 120sqkm in south-west Victoria. It 

contains the city of Warrnambool, which has a population of 33,797, and the small towns 

of Allansford, Woodford and Bushfield. 

 

Significant natural features include the estuaries of the Merri and Hopkins rivers and the 

expansive Lady Bay which in winter and spring is a nursery for southern right whales. 

 

Warrnambool is a major regional employment base with significant dairy and meat 

processing factories along with a range of industries which service agricultural 

enterprises. 

 

Warrnambool generates a gross regional product of about $1.6 billion which accounts for 

over 20 per cent of the Great South Coast region’s economic output despite the 

municipality covering less than one per cent of the region’s total area. 

 

It has 2,893 registered businesses and significant employment sectors include health and 

social assistance (14.9 per cent of those employed), retail (13.7 per cent), manufacturing 

(10.3 per cent), education and training (9.1 per cent), construction (8.8 per cent), 

accommodation and food services (8.8 per cent). 

 

Tourism is another major driver of the city’s economy with the city positioned within the 

Great Ocean Road region and home to the award-winning Flagstaff Hill Maritime Village. 

Each year more than 700,000 people visit Warrnambool. 

 

Tertiary education providers Deakin University and South West TAFE have campuses in 

Warrnambool which, along with bringing students to the city, provide local people with 

opportunities to pursue education and vocational training without having to leave the 

region. 

 

Warrnambool City Council is also a major employer and provides a range of community 

services and also owns and manages community assets including the aquatic centre 

AquaZone, Warrnambool Art Gallery, Warrnambool Stadium, the Lighthouse Theatre, 

Surfside Holiday Park and major tourist attraction Flagstaff Hill Maritime Village. 
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Sustainable Capacity Indicators 

For the year ended 30 June 2017 

  Sustainable Capacity   Results   

  Indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 Material Variations and Comments 

  Population         

C1 Expenses per head of municipal population $1,938.09 $1,979.91 $2,060.83   

   [Total expenses / Municipal population]         

C2 Infrastructure per head of municipal population $14,040.75 $14,440.73 $14,960.03   

   [Value of infrastructure / Municipal population]         

C3 Population density per length of road 104.69 99.24 102.11   

   [Municipal population / Kilometres of local roads]         

  Own-source revenue          

C4 Own-source revenue per head of municipal population $1,404.58 $1,534.42 $1,474.21   

   [Own-source revenue / Municipal population]         

  Recurrent grants          

C5 Recurrent grants per head of municipal population $461.30 $349.10 $462.56 
The increase in 2016/17 is due to the early 
partial payment of the 2017/18 Victorian 

Grants Commission funds. 

   [Recurrent grants / Municipal population]         

  Disadvantage          

C6 Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage 6.00 5.00 5.00   

  
 [Index of Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage by 
decile] 

        

 

Definitions  
"adjusted underlying revenue" means total income other than:  
(a) non-recurrent grants used to fund capital expenditure; and  
(b) non-monetary asset contributions; and  
(c) contributions to fund capital expenditure from sources other than those referred to above  
“infrastructure” means non-current property, plant and equipment excluding land  
"local road" means a sealed or unsealed road for which the council is the responsible road authority under the Road Management Act 2004  
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  Sustainable Capacity   Results   

  Indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 Material Variations and Comments 

"population" means the resident population estimated by council  
"own-source revenue" means adjusted underlying revenue other than revenue that is not under the control of council (including government grants)  
"relative socio-economic disadvantage", in relation to a municipality, means the relative socio-economic disadvantage, expressed as a decile for the relevant financial 
year, of the area in which the municipality is located according to the Index of Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage (Catalogue Number 2033.0.55.001) of SEIFA  
"SEIFA" means the Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas published from time to time by the Australian Bureau of Statistics on its Internet website  
"unrestricted cash" means all cash and cash equivalents other than restricted cash.  
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Service Performance Indicators 

For the year ended 30 June 2017 

  Services Performance Indicators  Results   

  Service/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 Material Variations and Comments 

  Aquatic Facilities         

  Utilisation         

AF6 Utilisation of aquatic facilities 6.16 7.14 6.86   

  
[Number of visits to aquatic facilities / Municipal 
population] 

        

  Animal Management         

  Health and safety         

AM4 Animal management prosecutions 0.00 0.00 0.00 Nil prosecutions 

  
[Number of successful animal management 
prosecutions] 

        

  Food Safety         

  Health and safety         

FS4 
Critical and major non-compliance outcome 
notifications 

94.00% 100.00% 95.35% 

From 1 July 2016, 'Critical and major non-compliance 
outcome notifications' will be reported by calendar 

year. Previously this indicator was reported by financial 
year. This has been implemented to better align 

reporting with the Department of Health and Human 
Services. This may result in some variances year on 

year. 

  

[Number of critical non-compliance outcome 
notifications and major non-compliance notifications 
about a food premises followed up / Number of critical 
non-compliance outcome notifications and major non-
compliance notifications about a food premises] x100 
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  Services Performance Indicators  Results   

  Service/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 Material Variations and Comments 

  Governance         

  Satisfaction          

G5 Satisfaction with council decisions 50.00 51.00 51.00   

  
[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how 
council has performed in making decisions in the 
interest of the community] 

        

  Home and Community Care (HACC)     

Reporting Ceased 1 
July 2016 

  

  Participation       

HC6 Participation in HACC service 36.00% 34.28% 
Reporting on HACC ceased on 1 July 2016 due to the 

introduction of the Commonwealth Government's NDIS 
and CHSP programs 

  
[Number of people that received a HACC service / 
Municipal target population for HACC services] x100 

      

  Participation     

Reporting Ceased 1 
July 2016 

  

HC7 Participation in HACC service by CALD people 13.00% 12.99% 
Reporting on HACC ceased on 1 July 2016 due to the 

introduction of the Commonwealth Government's NDIS 
and CHSP programs 

  
[Number of CALD people who receive a HACC service / 
Municipal target population in relation to CALD people 
for HACC services] x100 

      

  Libraries         

  Participation          

LB4 Active library members 16.00% 15.83% 15.56%   

  
[Number of active library members / Municipal 
population] x100 
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  Services Performance Indicators  Results   

  Service/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 Material Variations and Comments 

  Maternal and Child Health (MCH)         

  Participation         

MC4 Participation in the MCH service 78.00% 74.65% 75.25%   

  
[Number of children who attend the MCH service at 
least once (in the year) / Number of children enrolled in 
the MCH service] x100 

        

  Participation         

MC5 Participation in the MCH service by Aboriginal children 74.00% 60.00% 63.75%   

  
[Number of Aboriginal children who attend the MCH 
service at least once (in the year) / Number of 
Aboriginal children enrolled in the MCH service] x100 

        

  Roads         

  Satisfaction          

R5 Satisfaction with sealed local roads 53.00 49.00 49.00   

  
[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how 
council has performed on the condition of sealed local 
roads] 

        

  Statutory Planning         

  Decision making          

SP4 Council planning decisions upheld at VCAT 70.00% 50.00% 50.00%   

  

[Number of VCAT decisions that did not set aside 
council's decision in relation to a planning application / 
Number of VCAT decisions in relation to planning 
applications] x100 
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  Services Performance Indicators  Results   

  Service/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 Material Variations and Comments 

  Waste Collection         

  Waste diversion         

WC5 Kerbside collection waste diverted from landfill 39.00% 38.30% 38.09%   

  
[Weight of recyclables and green organics collected 
from kerbside bins / Weight of garbage, recyclables and 
green organics collected from kerbside bins] x100 

        

 

Definitions  
"Aboriginal child" means a child who is an Aboriginal person  
"Aboriginal person" has the same meaning as in the Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006  
"active library member" means a member of a library who has borrowed a book from the library  
"annual report" means an annual report prepared by a council under sections 131, 132 and 133 of the Act  
“CALD” means culturally and linguistically diverse and refers to persons born outside Australia in a country whose national language is not English  
“class 1 food premises” means food premises, within the meaning of the Food Act 1984, that have been declared as class 1 food premises under section 19C of that Act  
“class 2 food premises” means food premises, within the meaning of the Food Act 1984 , that have been declared as class 2 food premises under section 19C of that Act  
"Community Care Common Standards "means the Community Care Common Standards for the delivery of HACC services, published from time to time by the Commonwealth  
"critical non-compliance outcome notification" means a notification received by council under section 19N(3) or (4) of the Food Act 1984 , or advice given to council by an 
authorized officer under that Act, of a deficiency that poses an immediate serious threat to public health  
"food premises" has the same meaning as in the Food Act 1984  
"HACC program" means the Home and Community Care program established under the Agreement entered into for the purpose of the Home and Community Care Act 1985 
of the Commonwealth  
"HACC service" means home help, personal care or community respite provided under the HACC program  
"local road" means a sealed or unsealed road for which the council is the responsible road authority under the Road Management Act 2004  
"major non-compliance outcome notification" means a notification received by a council under section 19N(3) or (4) of the Food Act 1984, or advice given to council by an 
authorized officer under that Act, of a deficiency that does not pose an immediate serious threat to public health but may do so if no remedial action is taken  
"MCH" means the Maternal and Child Health Service provided by a council to support the health and development of children within the municipality from birth until school 
age  
"population" means the resident population estimated by council  
"target population" has the same meaning as in the Agreement entered into for the purposes of the Home and Community Care Act 1985 of the Commonwealth  
"WorkSafe reportable aquatic facility safety incident" means an incident relating to a council aquatic facility that is required to be notified to the Victorian WorkCover 
Authority under Part 5 of the Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004.  
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Financial Performance Indicators 

For the year ended 30 June 2017 

Financial Performance Indicators  Results Forecasts   
Material Variations and 

Comments Dimension/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Efficiency                 

Revenue level                 

Average residential rate per residential 
property assessment 

$1,628.70 $1,723.89 $1,758.78 $1,813.96 $1,907.44 $2,021.25 $2,053.50   

[Residential rate revenue / Number of 
residential property assessments] 

                

Expenditure level                 

Expenses per property assessment $3,980.87 $4,016.54 $4,161.19 $3,902.75 $4,064.50 $4,126.99 $4,104.55   

 [Total expenses / Number of property 
assessments]  

                

Workforce turnover                  

Resignations and terminations compared to 
average staff 

13.53% 10.82% 13.22% 12.92% 12.92% 13.12% 12.94% 

Turnover of staff is cyclical and 
2016/17 returned to a level in 

line with our longer term 
average. 

[Number of permanent staff resignations and 
terminations / Average number of permanent 
staff for the financial year] x100 

                

Liquidity                 

Working capital                  

Current assets compared to current liabilities 137.68% 125.35% 144.19% 107.80% 118.67% 126.03% 128.55% 

Council held higher than normal 
levels of cash at the end of 2017 
due to the early partial payment 
of the 2017/18 Victorian Grants 

Commission funds. 

[Current assets / Current liabilities] x100                 

Unrestricted cash                 
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Financial Performance Indicators  Results Forecasts   
Material Variations and 

Comments Dimension/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Unrestricted cash compared to current 
liabilities 

50.19% 60.52% 53.62% 46.98% 57.36% 65.06% 68.51% 

Council is able to meet its 
liabilities as and when they are 
due. This is demonstrated by a 
positive working capital ratio. 

[Unrestricted cash / Current liabilities] x100                 

Obligations                 

Asset renewal                  

Asset renewal compared to depreciation 81.78% 79.38% 121.86% 142.09% 133.41% 132.50% 121.66% 

The variances from year to year 
reflect the fluctuating nature of 

our capital works program. 
Council continues to review its 

asset renewal strategy to ensure 
appropriate investment in asset 

renewal. 
[Asset renewal expense / Asset depreciation] 
x100 
 
 

                

Loans and borrowings                  

Loans and borrowings compared to rates 
[Interest bearing loans and borrowings / Rate 
revenue] x100 

34.43% 29.91% 23.06% 25.41% 21.99% 22.01% 18.02% 

Council has repaid debt during 
2016/17 and has a strategy to 

only borrow for large 
intergenerational projects. 

Loans and borrowings repayments compared 
to rates 

4.56% 5.32% 5.79% 5.45% 4.89% 3.82% 3.39% 

Council has repaid debt during 
2016/17 and has a strategy to 

only borrow for large 
intergenerational projects. 

[Interest and principal repayments on interest 
bearing loans and borrowings / Rate revenue] 
x100 

                

Indebtedness                  
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Financial Performance Indicators  Results Forecasts   
Material Variations and 

Comments Dimension/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Non-current liabilities compared to own 
source revenue 

20.02% 16.61% 14.95% 14.86% 13.37% 13.90% 11.34% 

This is mainly impacted by the 
reductions in loans as Council has 
repaid debt during 2016/17 and 
has a strategy to only borrow for 
large intergenerational projects. 

[Non-current liabilities / Own source revenue] 
x100 

                

Operating position                 

Adjusted underlying result                 

Adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit) -0.26% -3.21% -2.34% 0.74% -1.56% 0.23% 2.06% 

The underlying surplus varies 
from year to year and Council's 
objective is to have a breakeven 

position. During 2016/17 financial 
year. the useful lives of the road 

network have been reduced 
based on the current condition 

assessment which has increased 
the depreciation expense. 

[Adjusted underlying surplus (deficit)/ 
Adjusted underlying revenue] x100 

                

Stability                 

Rates concentration                  

Rates compared to adjusted underlying revenue 47.81% 51.70% 50.44% 53.41% 54.49% 55.17% 55.34%   

[Rate revenue / Adjusted underlying revenue] x100                 

Rates effort                  

Rates compared to property values 0.52% 0.55% 0.56% 0.57% 0.58% 0.60% 0.60%   

[Rate revenue / Capital improved value of rateable 
properties in the municipality] x100 

                

Definitions  
"adjusted underlying revenue" means total income other than:  
(a) non-recurrent grants used to fund capital expenditure; and  
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Financial Performance Indicators  Results Forecasts   
Material Variations and 

Comments Dimension/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

(b) non-monetary asset contributions; and  
(c) contributions to fund capital expenditure from sources other than those referred to above  
"adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit)" means adjusted underlying revenue less total expenditure  
"asset renewal expenditure" means expenditure on an existing asset or on replacing an existing asset that returns the service capability of the asset to its original capability  
“current assets” has the same meaning as in the AAS  
"current liabilities" has the same meaning as in the AAS  
“non-current assets” means all assets other than current assets  
"non-current liabilities" means all liabilities other than current liabilities  
“non-recurrent grant” means a grant obtained on the condition that it be expended in a specified manner and is not expected to be received again during the period covered by a 
council's Strategic Resource Plan  
"own-source revenue" means adjusted underlying revenue other than revenue that is not under the control of council (including government grants  
"population "means the resident population estimated by council  
“rate revenue” means revenue from general rates, municipal charges, service rates and service charges  
"recurrent grant "means a grant other than a non-recurrent grant 

"residential rates" means revenue from general rates, municipal charges, service rates and service charges levied on residential properties 

"restricted cash" means cash and cash equivalents, within the meaning of the AAS, that are not available for use other than for a purpose for which it is restricted, and includes cash to 

be used to fund capital works expenditure from the previous financial year  

"unrestricted cash" means all cash and cash equivalents other than restricted cash. 
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Other Information 

For the year ended 30 June 2017 

1. Basis of preparation 
Council is required to prepare and include a performance statement within its annual report. The 

performance statement includes the results of the prescribed sustainable capacity, service performance 

and financial performance indicators and measures together with a description of the municipal district 

and an explanation of material variations in the results. This statement has been prepared to meet the 

requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 

Regulations 2014. 

Where applicable the results in the performance statement have been prepared on accounting bases 

consistent with those reported in the Financial Statements. The other results are based on information 

drawn from council information systems or from third parties (e.g. Australian Bureau of Statistics). 

The performance statement presents the actual results for the current year and for the prescribed 

financial performance indicators and measures, the results forecast by the council’s strategic resource 

plan. The Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 requires explanation of any 

material variations in the results contained in the performance statement. Council has adopted 

materiality thresholds relevant to each indicator and measure and explanations have not been 

provided for variations below the materiality thresholds unless the variance is considered to be 

material because of its nature. 

The forecast figures included in the performance statement are those adopted by council in its 

strategic resource plan on 22 June 2017 and which forms part of the council plan. The strategic 

resource plan includes estimates based on key assumptions about the future that were relevant at the 

time of adoption and aimed at achieving sustainability over the long term. Detailed information on 

the actual financial results is contained in the General Purpose Financial Statements. The strategic 

resource plan can be obtained by contacting council. 

 

Certification of the performance statement 

For the year ended 30 June 2017 

 

 

In my opinion, the accompanying performance statement has been prepared in accordance with the 
Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014. 

 
 
 
__________________ 
David Harrington, Chartered Accountant 
Principal Accounting Officer 
Dated: ##/##/2017 
 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying performance statement of the (council name) for the year ended 30 
June 2016 presents fairly the results of council’s performance in accordance with the Local Government 
Act 1989 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014. 
 
The performance statement contains the relevant performance indicators, measures and results in 
relation to service performance, financial performance and sustainable capacity. 
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At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render any particulars in the 
performance statement to be misleading or inaccurate. 
 
We have been authorised by the council and by the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 
Regulations 2014 to certify this performance statement in its final form. 
 
 
 
__________________ 
Cr. Peter Hulin  
Councillor 
Dated: ##/##/2017 
 
 
 
 
__________________ 
Cr. Michael Neoh  
Councillor 
Dated: ##/##/2017 
 
 
 
__________________ 
Bruce Anson 
Chief Executive Officer 
Dated: ##/##/2017 
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5.4 WARRNAMBOOL FOOTBALL NETBALL CLUB – LOAN GUARANTEE 
 
PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this report is to seek Council approval to act as loan guarantor to the Warrnambool 
Football Netball Club. 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
 Warrnambool Football Netball Club submitted a written request to address Council and present a 

proposal for Council to consider acting as Loan Guarantor for a proposed loan. 

 The clubs strategy is to drawdown on the loan as significant reductions in their operating expenditure 
occur. The Council finance team recommend that the loan guarantee is split into the initial loan 
restructure ($0.8m) and the club would then be required to re-submit a request for the re-development 
works at a later date ($1.2m). The club would then be able to show the improved financial cashflows 
following these significant changes to their operating model. 

 Council need to consider the impact of acting as loan guarantor and how this would affect its ability to 
borrow for future projects. Based on Councils current projects there would appear to be sufficient 
capacity to allow this loan guarantee. 

 Council need to assess the level of community and economic benefit from the proposal and determine 
whether to impose a further community benefit obligation on the club.  The current contribution to 
Council via their lease is under-represented in their operating performance when compared to the 
commercial rental value that could be generated from this building. The current lease is fixed for the next 
9 years, however, this negotiation to act as loan guarantor could provide an opportunity to garner a 
greater share of community benefit contribution.  
 

MOVED: CR. HERBERT 
SECONDED: CR. NEOH 

 
1. That Warrnambool City Council act as loan guarantor to the Warrnambool Football Netball 

Club for an amount of $0.8m which will be used to consolidate existing loans including the 
repayment of a loan to the Warrnambool City Council. 

  
2. That Warrnambool City Council defer any decision on the proposed loan for the re-

development of the facility ($1.2m). The club will need to re-submit a request showing the 
impact on their cashflows of the significant changes to their operating model for 
consideration by Council.  

 
3. That Warrnambool City Council and the Warrnambool Football Netball Club negotiate an 

additional amount to be allocated to community benefit. The criteria for the allocation of 
these funds would be the same as Councils current Community Grant Scheme. 

CARRIED – 7:0 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
Warrnambool Football Netball Club has submitted a written request on the 15

th
 of June 2017 for Council to 

act as loan guarantor for a proposed loan. The club requires a loan guarantor due to having a limited 
capacity to borrow as they cannot offer sufficient security as the building is on Crown Land.  
 
The proposed borrowings are to be used to consolidate existing loans (including a Warrnambool City Council 
loan) of approximately $0.8m and to complete further leasehold improvements of $1.2m. 
 
ISSUES 
 
In determining whether to approve the loan guarantee, Council need to consider the following: 
 

1. Capacity of Warrnambool Football Netball Club to service the proposed borrowings. 
2. The impact that the loan guarantee will have on Councils borrowing strategy and long term financial 

requirements. 
3. The level of community and economic benefit from the proposal. 
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1. Capacity to Service Loan 

 
By acting as loan guarantor, Warrnambool City Council would be liable for the loan if the Warrnambool 
Football Netball Club were to default on their obligations. 
 
The club have provided Council with prior year financial results along with a forecast for the next two 
financial years. This has been reviewed by Council’s finance department and presented to Councillors at a 
confidential meeting. There are two major changes to the operating model of the club which will result in 
significant improvements to the clubs cashflows. This being: 
 

 Gaming Machine Entitlements (Licences) are valid for 10 years but are being paid off over a 5 year 
period. The final payment will be made in August 2017 and this will then free up significant cashflows for 
the next 5 years. 

 The club has a contract with a gaming provider to supply and maintain the gaming machines. This 
contract ends in July 2018 and it is planned that the machines will then be hire-purchased at a 
significantly lower price.  

  
The strategy of the club is to drawdown on the proposed loan as the above changes occur with $800k to 
consolidate the loan occurring in September 2017 and $1.2m drawn down in October 2018. The Council 
finance team recommend that the loan guarantee is split into the initial loan restructure ($0.8m) and the club 
would then be required to re-submit a request for the re-development works at a later date ($1.2m). The club 
would then be able to show the improved financial cashflows following these significant changes to their 
operating model. 

 
It is the opinion of Councils finance team that the Warrnambool Football Netball Club will have the capacity 
to service the proposed loan. This is based on the savings generated by the repayment of the Gaming 
Machine Entitlements and the exiting of the contract with the gaming provider. 
 
2. Impact to Council 
 
Council needs to ensure compliance with our debt strategy which states that Council will not borrow or 
guarantee more than 50% of our rate income. The following charts show (in green) the % and $dollars of 
funds that would be available over the next 4 year period (Strategic Resource Plan). These graphs include 
the recent RSL loan guarantee and the current planned borrowing for the completion of the Simpson Street 
Drainage project. 
 
Any loans that Council guarantees will have an impact on the future ability of Council to borrow for its own 
projects. 
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Based on our current and projected position, there appears be sufficient capacity to provide the loan 
guarantee. 
 
 
3. Level of Community & Economic Benefit 
 
The Warrnambool Football Netball Club employs 45 staff members and has an annual wage bill of 
approximately $1.35m. They provide support and sponsorship to more than 20 local clubs and associations. 
They have previously supported projects such as the building of the netball change rooms, installing netball 
court lights and upgrade of the scoreboard (to the value of $200,000). 
The proposed upgrade of the facilities would also generate local economic benefit as the club would be 
looking to use local suppliers and contractors. 
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The current community benefit contribution to Council via their lease is under-represented in their operating 
performance when compared to the commercial rental value that could be generated from this building. The 
current lease is fixed for the next 9 years, however, this negotiation to act as loan guarantor could provide an 
opportunity to garner a greater share of community benefit contribution.  

 

 
 
5.5 FREEDOM OF ENTRY TO THE CITY  

PURPOSE 
 
To provide information to Council on the request received for Freedom of Entry to be conferred on 
the 8

th
/7

th
 Battalion (The Royal Victoria Regiment). 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
 To consider a request for granting of Freedom of Entry to the City to the 8

th
/7

th
 Battalion. 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Freedom of Entry to a City is a ceremonial honour, which became popular during the nineteenth century 
and draws some inspiration from medieval history.  A military or civilian unit accorded this privilege is granted 
the right of entry to the city “with swords drawn, bayonets fixed, drums beating, bands playing and colours 
flying”.   
 
This award is restricted to Australian military and civilian units that have, through their command, a 
significant attachment to a City.  It is conferred in recognition of their achievement while on active service or 
overseas duty or as a mark of respect and gratitude for their effor5ts in the defence of Australia.  Freedom of 
Entry is normally celebrated with a parade through the City streets.  The right of Freedom of Entry is a 
significant honour, demonstrating trust, loyalty and a sense of community between a City and a military unit. 
 
Warrnambool City Council has previously conferred Freedom of Entry to the crew of HMAS Warrnambool in 
February 1988 and this Freedom of Entry was exercised in October 2001 by the then crew of HMAS 
Warrnambool with a march down Liebig Street and the Mayor of the day taking the salute. 
 
For the information of Councillors, the past history of the military activities in Warrnambool throughout the 
years is contained in Appendix A. 
 
 

MOVED: CR. ANDERSON 
SECONDED: CR. CASSIDY 
 
That the Council agree to confer Freedom of Entry to the City on the 8th/7th Battalion (The Royal 
Victoria Regiment) on Remembrance Day 11 November 2018. 

CARRIED – 7:0 

 
 
ISSUE 
 
A request has been received from the Warrnambool RSL Sub-branch to grant the Freedom of Entry to the 
City to the 8

th
/7

th
 Battalion (The Royal Victorian Regiment).  The suggested date for the conferral of the 

Freedom of Entry to the City is Remembrance Day 11 November 2018 which is the Centenary year if the last 
year of the Great War. 
 
 
COMMUNITY IMPACT/CONSULTATION  
 
The Freedom of Entry parade would usually be held with a march down Liebig Street which would 
necessitate the closure of Liebig Street and associated intersections for the duration of the parade.   
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FINANCIAL IMPACT 
 
Following the conferral of the Freedom of Entry to the City, it would be usual for the City to host a function to 
the Battalion, the cost of which could be met from current budgets. 
 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL/RISK IMPACT 
 
N/A. 
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5.6 PETITION FOR COUNCIL – REQUEST TO REPEAL THE MOTION SUPPORTING SAME-SEX 

MARRIAGE AND THE RAISING OF THE RAINBOW FLAG. 
 
PURPOSE 
 
To receive the petition which requests Council repeal the motion carried at the Council meeting of 3 
July 2017 in relation to the support for same-sex marriage and the raising of the rainbow flag. 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
 A petition has been received with signatures representing 240 residents of Warrnambool requesting that 

Council repeal the motion carried at the Council meeting of 3 July 2017 in relation to the support for 
same-sex marriage and the raising of the rainbow flag (the resolution).  

 Council’s Local Law No. 1 details the procedure for Rescission Motions and the specific requirements to 
rescind a motion are detailed (below) in this report.   

 The majority of actions to implement Council’s resolution of 3
rd

 July have been completed, with the 
flagpole installation works on track for final completion by 6

th
 September 2017.    

 A motion cannot be rescinded if the resolution has been actioned.  

MOVED: CR. OWEN 
SECONDED: CR. ANDERSON 
 
That Council:  
 
1. Receives and considers the petition seeking repeal of Council’s resolution of 3

 
July 2017;  

 
2. Notes the requirements of Local Law No. 1 Governance in relation to rescission motions; and  
 
3. Notes Council officers’ advice on the actions completed to date in relation to Council’s 

resolution of 3
rd

 July 2017.    
CARRIED – 7:0 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Council has received a petition (Appendix A) with signatories representing 240 residents of Warrnambool 
requesting that Council repeal the motion carried at the Council meeting of 3 July 2017 in relation to the 
support for same-sex marriage and the raising of the rainbow flag. 
 
ISSUES 
 
Council’s Local Law No. 1 Governance details the procedure for Rescission Motions as follows: 
 

DIVISION 9 - RESCISSION MOTIONS  

73. Rescission Motion  

(1) Motions to revoke, rescind or alter a previous resolution of the Council can only be made in the 

following ways: 

(a) Notice of Motion; or 

(b) by recommendation contained in an Officer’s report, included in the Agenda, 

that a previous decision be altered or revoked. 

(2) A Councillor may propose a Rescission Motion provided:  

(a) it has been signed and dated;  

(b) the resolution proposed to be rescinded has not been acted on;  
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(c) the effect of rescinding the resolution will not, in the opinion of the Chief Executive, place 

the Council at significant legal, financial or other risk, including non-compliance with 

statutory obligations; and  

 

(d) the Rescission Motion is delivered or sent electronically to the Chief Executive setting 

out:  

(i) the resolution to be rescinded; and  

(ii) the Meeting and date at which the resolution was made. 

(3) A resolution will be deemed to have been acted on if:  

(a) its content or substance has been formally communicated In Writing by the Chief 

Executive or his/her delegate to a person whose interests are materially affected by it; or  

 (b) a statutory process has been commenced; or 

(c) all work has been commenced,   

so as to vest enforceable rights in or obligations on the Council or any other person.  

(4) The Chief Executive or an appropriate Officer must defer implementing a resolution which:  

(a) has not been acted on; and  

(b) is the subject of a Rescission Motion which has been delivered or sent to the Chief 

Executive in accordance with sub-clause (2)(d),  

unless deferring implementation of the resolution would, in the Chief Executive’s opinion, have 

the effect of:  

(c) depriving the resolution of its usefulness or efficacy; or  

(d) placing the Council at significant legal, financial or other risk. 

74. Rescission, If Lost 

If a motion to rescind or alter a previous resolution is lost, an identical or similar motion may not be put 

before the Council for at least six (6) months from the date it was last lost, unless the Council resolves that 

the Rescission Motion be re-listed at a future Meeting. 

75. Rescission, If Not Moved  

If a Rescission Motion is not moved at the Meeting at which it is listed, it lapses.  

76. Rescission, May Be Moved By Any Councillor  

A Rescission Motion listed on an Agenda may be moved by any Councillor present but may not be 

amended. 

Pursuant to Council’s resolution of 3
rd

 July 2017 and the Local Law requirements specifically clause 73 (4), 
the following actions have been undertaken: 
 
 Letters dated 5

th
 July 2017 were sent to State and Federal Members of Parliament, the Victorian Equal 

Opportunity and Human Rights Commission and the Commonwealth Human Rights and Equal 
Opportunity Commission, advising them of Council’s resolution of 3

rd
 July and support for marriage 

equality, irrespective of sex or gender identity. 

 Letters dated 5
th
 July 2017 were sent to neighbouring Councils advising them of Council’s resolution of 

3
rd

 July and requesting they consider support for this important human rights issue. 

 Council has received a report on the project location and costs, and works have commenced with the 
site excavation (in front of Civic centre) now completed. The flag, flag pole and associated materials 
have been procured and the final works due for completion by 6 September 2017.    
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5.7 TENDER NO. 2017055 – PROVISION OF ANIMAL SHELTER SERVICES 
 
PURPOSE 
 

For Council to award Tender No. 2017055  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
 Council has sought tenders for the provision of animal shelter services. 

 Due to the highly specialised nature of this service, only one tender was received which was from the 
Royal Society for the Prevention of Cruelty of Animals (RSPCA). 

 Following a detailed evaluation of the tender submission it is considered that this tender be awarded to 
the RSPCA (Victoria).  

 

MOVED: CR. NEOH 
SECONDED: CR. CASSIDY 

That Council: 

1. Accept the tender submission from the RSPCA for Tender No. 2017055 – for the operation of 
Animal Shelter Services of $328,632 (Ex GST) for year one, $413,016 (Ex GST) for year two, 
and $425,412 (Ex GST) for year three.  

2. Accept the schedule of rates provided for specified animal shelter services.  

3. Sign and seal the contract documents. 
CARRIED – 7:0 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
Council advertised a public tender for the provision of animal shelter services.  One tender was received 
from the incumbent operator. 
 
ISSUES 
 
Animal Shelter Services are a specialised service and require an operator who upholds the highest 
standards of care and protection. 
 
CURRENT STATUS 
 
The existing contract for these services has expired. 
 
KEY CONSIDERATIONS 
 
The Warrnambool pound is also utilised by the Moyne Shire Council who have a direct contracted 
arrangement with the RSPCA.  Under the terms of the new contract Council has restricted access to third 
parties and now intends to negotiate a direct access agreement with Moyne Shire Council, should they be 
interested in continuing to access the facility.   
 
As part of the tender analysis an assessment was undertaken to establish the likely cost for Council to bring 
the pound management service in house.  This assessment was undertaken to ensure the single tendered 
offer provided best value. 
 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATION 
 
As the new operating rates are significantly higher than previous rates Council will need to make budget 
provisions in the current and future years to cover these cost increases. 
 
RISK 
 
Council must provide animal shelter services in accordance with State legislation. Poorly managed animal 
shelter services could create both reputational and financial risks to Council. 
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5.8 PROPOSED NAMING OF A RESERVE ‘WITHAM PARK’ 
 
PURPOSE 
 

To consider the naming of a Council Reserve off Goodall Street, Warrnambool. 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
 Council has received a proposal from the Witham family to name a Council reserve off Goodall Street 

‘Witham Park’ in remembrance of the contributions made to the Warrnambool Community by three 
members of the Witham Family. 

 This proposal follows a previous unsuccessful attempt to name a road ‘Witham’ which was unable to 
progress due to the similarity in sound to an existing street name ‘Witton’. 

 Place naming proposals and the process of review and approval must meet the State Government’s 
requirements as out lined in ‘Rules for Naming Places in Victoria’. 

 The details of the naming proposal have been sent via mail to the property owners surrounding the park, 
which included an invitation to make a submission on the proposed naming. 

 5 submissions were received in total, 3 in support of the proposed naming, 2 submissions not supportive 
of the proposal one of these including a counter naming proposal, ‘Kavanagh’. 

 Council currently has no delegated authority in place for the naming of Places other than Streets’ 
therefore Council is required to make the decision to approve any place names. 

 Compliant with the requirements, Council could approve the currently proposed name ‘Witham Park’ or 
cease this process and consult with the community on the counter proposal ‘Kavanagh Park’.     

 

 
MOVED: CR. HULIN 
SECONDED: CR. OWEN 
 
That Council approves the proposal to name the Open Space Reserve at 49-63 Goodall Street 
“Witham Park”.  

CARRIED – 7:0 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
Council first received a proposal from members of the Witham family on 7 October 2015, this was in relation 
to the proposed naming of a laneway of Princess Street, Warrnambool.  This proposal was not considered to 
meet the requirements of the Guidelines for Geographic Names due to the similarity to an existing street 
name ‘Witton’. 
 
The laneway off Princess Street was named Dunner Place in remembrance of George Olaf Dunner, a local 
ANZAC who died in France during the war. 
 
Seeking alternative naming opportunities, the representatives of the Witham family submitted a naming 
proposal to Council on 16 November 2016. The naming proposal requests approval from Council to name a 
new area of open space within the Wollaston Way development currently known as 49-63 Goodall Street. 
 
The information below was provided by the applicant to outline the rationale behind the proposal; 
 
The naming proposal seeks to achieve two purposes: 
 

1. Recognition of the substantial and significant contributions of our parents Mrs Betty Witham and Mr 
Ben Stansfield Witham and our paternal grandfather Mr Benjamin Hargreaves Witham to the 
Warrnambool community over many years. 

2. Recognition of the connection of our paternal grandfather and his family including our father,  to 
Wollaston through our grandfather having lived there on a farm for a period 
of approximately 18 years from 1923 to 1941, the land purchased in 1919 through the Soldier 
Settlement scheme which followed WW1.       
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 Some Key Contributions (details in attached Achievements document) 
 

 Mrs Betty Witham - 1996 Warrnambool City Council Citizenship Award, in recognition of her work in 
the community both in terms of her work as a highly accomplished pianist and a church organist, and 
her long career in nursing, welfare and other community service. 

 Mr Ben Stansfield Witham - 2010 Local Achiever Award, Warrnambool Australia Day Citizenship 
Awards, for services to the community including almost 50 years with Warrnambool Legacy, over 50 
years with Warrnambool Masonic Lodge and decades as a respected Warrnambool business 
manager. 

 Mr Benjamin Hargreaves Witham - ANZAC Gallipoli veteran, Australian Military Medal 
recipient, dairy and crop farmer at Wollaston, local telephone technician manager, local lawn bowls 
and golf sporting champion. 

 
Supporting Documents 
 
Attached: 
 

1. Witham Achievements - summarising the contributions of  Mr Ben Stansfield Witham, Mrs Betty 
Irene Witham and Mr Benjamin Hargreaves Witham to the Warrnambool Community   

2. Warrnambool Legacy Bulletin Nov 2014 - Tribute to Mr Ben Stansfield Witham - ref. p. 9 
3. Wollaston Way Ultimate Concept Plan - plan from Rodger Constructions showing the recreation 

reserve - referred to as 'Passive Open Space' 
4. Rodger Constructions - Letter of Support from the developer of Wollaston Way for the Witham 

naming.  Note: Mr Sam Stevens, Development Manager, Land in Warrnambool, organised the letter 
of support and is himself strongly supportive of the naming submission. 

 
The attachments listed above are also attached to this report for reference. 
 
Following receipt of the proposal, letters were sent by Council to all surrounding land owners within a 300 
meter radius of the park. 
 
5 submissions were received in total, 3 in support of the proposed naming, 2 submissions not supportive of 
the proposal one of these including a counter naming proposal, ‘Kavanagh’. 
 
Each of the submissions received are attached. 
  
 
ISSUES 
 
The currently unnamed park on Goodall Street, Warrnambool, created as part of the Wollaston Way 
development is proposed to be named ‘Witham Park’.  The naming of the Park has no impact on property 
addressing and the name is considered to comply with the ‘Naming Rules for Places in Victoria’ under the 
Geographic Place Names Act 1998. 
 
During the consultation period on the proposed naming of the park, another proposal was sent to Council. 
The counter proposal ‘Kavanagh’ is another strong proposal but despite its merits it does not provide 
adequate justification to outweigh the initial proposal.  
 
 
CONSULTATION / COMMUNICATION 
 
The following is a summary of the submissions received following Council letters being sent to surrounding 
properties: 
 
All submissions are attached, refer to attachment 5 – attachment 8. 
  



Warrnambool City Council 4 September 2017 
Minutes for Ordinary Meeting Page | 148 

 

 

Submission 
Number 

Submission Comment 

1.  Proposal for an alternative name ‘Kavanagh’ Submission provides an 
alternative naming proposal, it is 
highly recommended that Council 
consider this proposal for other 
public land within close proximity 
to the historical Kavanagh 
property  

2.  Submission provides support for the naming proposal.  Letter of support noted 

3.  Submission provides support for the naming proposal. Letter of support noted 

4.  Objection to the park naming proposal, on the basis 
that the Park does not need to be named and that the 
recognition is not justified.   

Letter of objection to naming of 
the park as a way of recognising 
individuals who have contributed 
to the community is noted 

5.  Submission provides support for the naming proposal. 
(see attachment 4, was received as part of the initial 
proposal letter) 

Letter of support provided with 
the naming proposal is noted 

 
 
RISK 
 
Although there is clearly support for the ‘Witham Park’ proposal, since the proposed naming is not 
unanimously supported it may draw some negative feedback, in particular from the proponents of the 
counter proposal ‘Kavanagh’, which is also a strong proposal.  Council could consider alternative open space 
areas within close proximity of this site as they are developed with suitability for naming. To ensure that the 
required public process is followed; however, no assurances can be provide that such a proposal would be 
successful.    
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APPENDIX 1 
Warrnambool Witham Outline of Life and Achievements 
 
Relevant Geographic Names Victoria Guideline for geographical feature naming: 
 

 Names of deceased persons where the person had a direct and long-term association 

with the Warrnambool area 

 
Mrs Betty Irene Witham (nee Williams) 
 
Mother of Murray, Ben and Barb Witham 
 

 1924 Born Warrnambool. Lived in Allansford into her early adult years. 

 1968-2003 Resident 3 Victoria Street Warrnambool till her death in January 2003, aged 78.  

 1940’s Nursing student at Warrnambool Base Hospital. Received the inaugural Gold Medal for 

her studies. Long career at Warrnambool Base: first District Nurse at Warrnambool in the 

1960’s. In charge of District Nursing Service, Radiology Department and Central Sterile Supply 

Department at various times. Finished her career as a Base Hospital Welfare Officer and 

worked until retirement in the 1980’s. 

 1980’s after retirement volunteered with Cancer Support Group in Warrnambool and 

Warrnambool Standard talking book program. 

 1963-1988 Warrnambool Theatre Group (now Warrnambool Theatre Company) principal 

rehearsal pianist and a member of the orchestra for over 30 musical productions. Her service 

to the company was recognized in 1981 through the conferring of Life Membership.  

 1960's Warrnambool High School rehearsal and performance piano accompanist.  

 1960's Warrnambool Eisteddfod piano accompanist for singers and musicians for several 

years. 

 1958-1997 Christ Church Warrnambool organist for 39 years.  

 1996 Warrnambool City Council Citizenship Award, in recognition of her work in the community 

both in terms of her music, and her long career in nursing, welfare and community service. 

 2000 Neighbourhood Watch Service Recognition Award. 

 
Mr Ben Stansfield Witham 
 
Father of Murray, Ben and Barb Witham 
 
 1925 Born, Warrnambool. Lived at Wollaston into his late teenage years. 

 1968-2014 Resident at 3 Victoria Street Warrnambool till his death in October 2014, aged 89.  

 1940 Swintons store customer service – commencement of working life at age 15. 

 1942 Enlisted in AIF at the age of 17 (put his age up by one year to 18 to be eligible). Served 

overseas in New Guinea and Borneo in the 472nd Australian Heavy Anti-Aircraft Battery. 

 1950’s-1990’s Warrnambool businessman – including Johnson’s Transport, Fletts Plumbing, E. 

S. Harris Engineering. Worked into his late 70’s as manager of ES Harris & Co., the company 

responsible for building the old Lady Bay Hotel and Sandilands to name two iconic buildings. 

 1950’s (early) South Warrnambool Kindergarten establishment Working Group member. 

 1950’s (late) Warrnambool Primary School No. 1743, President, School Council.  
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 1965-2014 Legacy Club of Warrnambool volunteer for 49 years as a Legatee, including 

President (1975, 2008) and the longest serving Welfare Secretary (44 years). His was a 

prominent member of the inaugural Legacy Foundation of Victoria which enabled people with 

no defense service to become a Legacy member and was significant in developing the 

Foundation’s role. He served the Foundation’s committee for 9 years, retiring due the necessity 

to become a carer for his wife. He was considered a visionary by the Club for being the local 

Legatee who nominated and thereby enabled the first women to join Warrnambool Legacy 

Club. He was also the lead organiser for the 2005 Legacy National Conference held in 

Warrnambool. He was in his 50th year of service at the time of his death.  

 1961-2014 Warrnambool Masonic Lodge member for 53 years. 

 2000 Neighbourhood Watch Service Recognition Award. Was Founding member. 

 2010 Local Achiever Award, Warrnambool Australia Day Citizenship Awards, for services to 

the community. 

 
Relevant Geographic Names Victoria Guideline for geographical naming: 
 

 Naming a feature after local ANZACS 

 
Mr Benjamin Hargreaves Witham  
 
Paternal grandfather to Murray, Ben and Barb Witham and others. 
 1895 Born Manchester, England  

 1910 Arrived in Melbourne by ship at the age of 15 with his parents. 

 Lived at Leopold on arrival in Australia, then Williamstown, before moving to Warrnambool.  

 Resident in Warrnambool and district until his death in 1984 aged 89.  

 1914 Enlisted 18 August in AIF (Australian Imperial Force) August. Gunner in the AIF, Field 

Artillery Brigade 2, Battery 5. 

 1914 Left Australia October on ship and travelled to the Middle East for training. 

 1915 Was amongst the first landing at Gallipoli on Sunday 25 April. Met and provided shelter 

one night for the famous ANZAC legend Simpson, and his donkey – John Simpson, a stretcher 

bearer. 

 1918 Returned to Australia in December following his overseas service from 1914-1918. 

 1914-1918 Military medals awarded: Military Medal for bravery. He maintained his post with his 

18 pound gun against sustained enemy fire. 1914-15 Star; British War Medal; Victory Medal. 

For further details:https://www.aif.adfa.edu.au/showPerson?pid=329961or 

https://www.awm.gov.au/people/rolls/R1760403/ 

 1919 Purchased a Soldier Settlement block at Wollaston of 45 acres and later acquires a 

further 32 acres. It was subsequently acknowledged by various commentators that the original 

blocks were too small for an effective farming operation. 

 1923 Married, raised family on the Wollaston property. 

 After concluding he could make a living from farming he moved his parents onto the property.  

 1920's Introduces St Alban’s Friesian dairy cows to the district by way of a gift of a prize St 

Albans Friesian bull from a Mr Jones of Leopold in recognition of Mr Witham's diligence and 

thoroughness in clearing Mr Jones Leopold farm land. St Alban’s Friesian dairy cows gave a 

high volume of milk and had a high buttermilk content. 

  

https://www.aif.adfa.edu.au/showPerson?pid=329961
https://www.awm.gov.au/people/rolls/R1760403/
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 Highly rated as a farmer by the Soldier Settlement Scheme supervisory board . As with 

everyone in the Great Depression years, he had a tremendous struggle to survive and provide 

for his family. When he purchased the land, prices were based on the then-current price of 

butter fat, which was 2 shillings a pound, and he and the others who survived had to pay this 

off when they were receiving only nine pence per pound. The milk was taken by horse and 

wagon to the depot in Mortlake Road, Russell’s Creek to be picked up by the Nestle lorry. 

 Planted a Lambertiana Cypress hedge to shelter the Wollaston house the family lived in. The 

hedge still exists, now silhouetted on the horizon as a wild clump of trees to the north as one 

drives along Wollaston Road past the area where the house was located. 

 His son Ben Stansfield Witham and some of the similar aged boys in the area  were required 

from the time they started school to milk five cows each before they went to school and the 

same five again when they returned. All the children walked to school at first, before they were 

given bicycles, turning right immediately after crossing Wollaston Bridge and around to 

Queen’s Road. 

 There was no phone, ever at the Wollaston property, and no electricity in the time the family 

lived there, with the nearest phone across the Wollaston Road at the home of the Wall family. 

Transportation was by horse and jinker until he purchased a 1926 Chevrolet utility truck. 

 Grew potatoes including Snowflakes and Pontiacs varieties and peas, both for commercial 

purposes, taking them into Warrnambool by dray to sell. He also grew maize and turnips for 

cattle feed to supplement the loose hay the cows were fed when the fresh grass was not 

sufficient. He also made chaff for the cows. 

 1930’s (approx.) To supplement the Wollaston farm income, he commenced work first with 

Nestle then later with the PMG (Post Master General – now Telstra, eventually working with 

PMG for several decades. He was in charge of several PMG technical facility locations around 

the district including Timboon and Koroit.   

 1941 Moved to Redford Street Warrnambool in January/February  

 1946/7 (approx.) The farm sold, except for the four and a half acres where his father lived until 

approximately 1954. 

 1940’s-1970’s Champion Warrnambool lawn bowls player and champion local golfer. Played 

with Warrnambool Bowls Club for decades and was skipper for many years. His successes 

included winning the Club Singles Championship in 1946 and at another time, the Club Fours 

Championship.  A Warrnambool Standard article in 1983 or 1984 noted that he had played in 

every Warrnambool Seaside Bowls Carnival for 40 years from the Carnival’s inception. He was 

also a dedicated golf player, playing off a low handicap of 6 well into his 80’s. 

 1960’s (early) Involved in laying out the Warrnambool Golf Club - plowing the ground and other 

tasks. His golf clubs are on display at the Club. 

 
 
Benjamin John Witham 
9 Devon Street  
West Preston Vic 3072 
 
Barbara Helen Witham 
3 Victoria Street 
Warrnambool Vic 3280 
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5.9 DRAFT RESOURCE RECOVERY, WASTE MINIMISATION AND MANAGEMENT STRATEGY  
 
PURPOSE 
 
To seek approval to release the Draft Resource Recovery, Waste Minimisation and Management 
Strategy for public comment. 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
 The Resource Recovery, Waste Minimisation and Management Strategy (The Strategy) seeks to 

consolidate existing information, provide a holistic overview and set a future direction for resource 
recovery and waste management within the City of Warrnambool. The draft Strategy is attached (Refer 
Appendix A). 

 The document specifically introduces measures to reduce litter spread through improved equipment, 
education and enforcement. To undertake a food organics and garden organics trial to divert material 
from landfill and to work with the community to advocate for Warrnambool to be a plastic bag free city. 

 Comprehensive community consultation is imperative to the success of this strategy as it impacts every 
current and future resident of Warrnambool. It also affects many visitors to the city.  

 Council receives many requests and feedback related to resource recovery and waste management and 
it is important that the community understands and is aware that this is their opportunity to have their 
say. 

 The Strategy will be made available for public consultation for a period of 6 weeks. 

 Once the Strategy has been through the consultation phase and feedback considered, it will be reviewed 
and submitted to Council for adoption. 

 The adopted Strategy will inform a new kerbside collection service and contract which is due to be 
advertised by public tender in 2018. 

 

 
MOVED: CR. HULIN 
SECONDED: CR. OWEN 
 
That Council: 
 
1. Agree to release the Draft Resource Recovery, Waste Minimisation and Management Strategy 

for public comment. 
 
2. Consider submissions in relation to the Draft Resource Recovery, Waste Minimisation and 

Management Strategy at a future Council meeting. 
CARRIED – 7:0 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Resource Recovery, Waste Minimisation and Management Strategy (The Strategy) seeks to consolidate 
existing information, provide a holistic overview and set a future direction for resource recovery and waste 
management within the City of Warrnambool.  
 
The strategy provides a means for the community to consider all aspects of resource recovery and waste 
management and how this impacts individuals, households, the community, our economy and the 
environment.  
It is the first time that Council has attempted to consolidate its resource recovery and waste minimisation 
directions and activities into a single document.   
 
The strategy seeks to draw together the roles played by many community groups, private businesses and 
statutory bodies who partner with Council. 
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ISSUES 
 
The need for a consolidated, considered, forward thinking document that provides clarity, consistency, 
rationale and direction about resource recovery and waste management, is imperative for meeting the 
expectations of residents and visitors to this “cosmopolitan city by the sea”.  
 
Once the Strategy has been through a consultation process and feedback considered, it will be reviewed and 
submitted to Council for adoption. 
 
The adopted Strategy will inform the kerbside collection service contract which is due to be advertised by 
public tender in 2018. 
  
 
CONSULTATION / COMMUNICATION 
 
Comprehensive community consultation is imperative to the ultimate success of this document as it impacts 
every current and future resident of Warrnambool. It also affects many visitors to the city.  
Council receives many requests and feedback relating to resource recovery and waste management and it is 
important that the community understands and is aware that this is their opportunity to have their say. 
 
It is proposed to release the Strategy for public comment for a period of 6 weeks. Consultation will be in the 
form of a media releases, Council’s website, C2C, social media, newspaper advertisement on Council’s 
Notice Board, radio advertisements, a listening post in a central CBD location and an online survey. 
 
Any submissions received will be assessed and will inform the content of the final Strategy which will be 
reported to Council prior to seeking Council adoption of the Strategy. 
 
This Strategy is intended to be used to inform decisions about resource recovery, waste minimisation and 
management in Warrnambool. It will provide guidance and certainty to the community about aspects of 
waste management, whilst providing an aspirational vision for the future. 
 
 
TIMING 
 
Following adoption of The Strategy for public release, it will be available for public comment for 6 weeks. 
 
 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATION 
 
The costs of preparing the Strategy and the consultation process are contained within the budget of City 
Infrastructure. 
 
 
RISK 
 
The risks associated with the project are reputational, financial and operational. 
 
It is imperative to conduct an effective community consultation process to ensure the community is informed 
and participates in the process.  
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5.10 2017/18 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT FUND 
 
PURPOSE 
 
This report considers applications received under the 2017/18 Community Development Fund. 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
 Council received forty-one applications of which thirty-six have been deemed eligible for assessment. 
 The Smartygrants system was continued for the second year to support more efficient administration of 

the Community Development Fund. 
 The report recommends $70,919 be allocated to thirty six local clubs and organisations. 
 

 
MOVED: CR. NEOH 
SECONDED: CR. CASSIDY 
 
1. That Council approve the funding under the 2017/18 Community Development Fund to the value 

of $70,919 to thirty six clubs and organisations as outlined in this report. 
 

2. That all applicant organisations be advised of the outcome of the assessment process. 
 

CARRIED – 7:0 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Community Development Fund is an annual grant program that was established by Council in 1999. 
Council established the Community Environment Support Fund as a separate fund in 2010. This is the third 
year that both Funds operate as one process (from here referred to as the CDF). 
 
The CDF aims to provide assistance to local clubs and organisations through four funding categories to: 
 
 Develop and provide sporting or recreational programs, projects and activities. 
 Develop and provide cultural programs, projects and activities. 
 Develop and conduct regional, national or international sporting, recreational or cultural events. 
 Develop and conduct environmental and/or sustainability projects. 
 
Applicants can apply for up to $3,000 on a 2 for 1 basis. 
 
Applications must demonstrate one of the following: 
 
 Increased sporting, recreational, environmental or cultural opportunities. 
 Increased participation levels in sporting, recreational, cultural or environmental sustainability activities. 
 A community benefit to those disadvantaged who may be unable to access various programs or 

activities. 
 A contribution to economic activity in the community (events only). 
 An environmental Benefit (environment and sustainability only). 
 
Applicants are also required to submit an audited financial statement to assist in determining their capacity to 
complete the project and their need for assistance.  
 
The 2017/18 CDF guidelines are attached as Appendix A. 
 
2017/18 PROGRAM 
 
a) Applications process  
 
The CDF is promoted, and applications invited, through three different mechanisms: 
 

 The CONNECT website that is now linked to 224 local clubs and organisations. 

 Public notices in the Warrnambool Standard. 

 Council’s annual funding forum, held in May this year, and attended by 60 local clubs and organisations. 



Warrnambool City Council 4 September 2017 
Minutes for Ordinary Meeting Page | 212 

 

 
Applications are evaluated by a panel comprising representatives from the Recreation and Culture, Visitor 
Economy and City Strategy and Development branches.  
 
b) Applications Received 
 
Applications under the 2017/18 funding round closed Friday 30 June 2017. A summary of applications 
received is as follows: 
 

CATEGORY 2016/17 2017/18 

Sport and Recreation 22 18 

Cultural Activities 9 9 

Events 7 6 

Sustainability & Environment 4 8 

Total 42 41 

 
c) Eligibility 
 
Under the program funding guidelines, the evaluation panel considered five applications ineligible and two 
applications were adjusted, as outlined below: 
 
Leadership Great South Coast 
The CDF guidelines state that to be eligible to apply, clubs/organisations must be based within the 
Warrnambool City municipal boundaries. The applicant is based in Port Fairy. 
 
Scripture Union Victoria 
The CDF guidelines state that Clubs/Organisations will not be funded to subsidise the normal operation of 
the club/organisation. The application is based entirely on reducing operating costs for its annual holiday 
program conducted over summer at Lake Pertobe.  
 
South West Victorian Seal Inc 
The evaluation panel deemed that this community organisation is a community based agency and has 
access to levels of recurrent funding not generally available to local clubs or organisations, therefore is not 
eligible. 
 
Warrnambool St Ayles Skiff Community Rowing Club Inc 
The event is operated and supported through Council’s 2017/18 Events & Promotion Budget.  
 
Brierly Christ Church Cricket Club 
The evaluation panel deemed that this club is currently receiving substantial support from Council and is not 
eligible at this time. Council has received funding on the club’s behalf for the establishment of a new bore 
and installation of irrigation (western oval) at Brierly Recreation Reserve (the club’s home ground).  
 
The F Project 
An application for the Fletcher Jones Garden Christmas Party was assessed based on market stall and 
entertainment elements only. Council is committed to reducing the harmful use of alcohol as identified as a 
priority focus of the Health and Wellbeing Plan 2013-17. 
 
Great South Coast Ice Challenge 
An application to conduct information forums in each local government authority across the Great South 
Coast was assessed based on conducting the Warrnambool forum only. 
 
d) Fund Budget 
 
Council allocated $77,000 to the CDF in its 2017/18 Budget. Program advertising and Civic Reception costs 
of approximately $1,800 reduce the funds available for allocation to $75,200. 
 
Based on comments under c) above, thirty-six eligible applications requesting $76,655 have been submitted 
under the 2017/18 funding round.   
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e) Merit/Equity Funding Balance 
 
All applications are assessed against the CDF criteria. Once ranked, applications are balanced according to 
project merit, equity, and balance of funds available.  
 
Allocations requested from Council are adjusted to meet the funding ratio of 2:1, with levels of funding 
proportionally reduced to provide financial support to all eligible applications based on the club/organisation’s 
ability to proceed with the proposed project if offered less support from Council, or to applicants that have 
received funding in the past two years. 
 
In summary, to meet the available budget, six applications were adjusted to meet the funding ratio of 2:1, 
and two applications were adjusted according to assessment reductions. 
 
f) Applications Proposed for Funding 
 

Organisation Name Project Title 
Total 
Amount 
Requested 

Total 
Project 
Cost 

CDF 
Approved 
Allocation 

CULTURAL ACTIVITIES         

Community Radio Endeavour 
Warrnambool Inc 3WAY-FM 

Upgrade of facilities to support 
volunteers and guests 

$1,000 $1,856 $1,000 

Friends of Warrnambool Botanic 
Gardens  

Installation of bluestone seating and 
picnic platform near the 100 year old 
well 

$3,000 $8,445 $3,000 

Out There Factory Arts 
(Warrnambool) Inc 

Implementation of art sessions for 
artists with disabilities to exhibit 
completed artwork 

$1,880 $2,920 $1,880 

South Warrnambool Community 
Association Inc 

Production of a brochure promoting the 
South Warrnambool Historical Walking 
trail 

$1,971 $3,746 $1,971 

South Warrnambool Kindergarten 
Parent Committee 

Explore, Discover and Wonder - 
Kindergarten Environment and Visual 
Art Project 

$500 $1,200 $500 

The F Project # 
Fletcher Jones Garden Christmas 
Party 

$3,000 $6,230 $2,700 

Warrnambool Branch of Victorian 
Country Womens Association of 
Vic Inc 

Installation of reverse cycle air 
conditioning unit in the CWA Hall to 
support volunteers 

$2,470 $3,710 $2,470 

Warrnambool Rock n Rollers Inc * 
Purchase of essential equipment to 
support training and improve technique 

$3,000 $2,974 $1,982 

Warrnambool Triton Woodworkers 
Inc * 

Purchase of essential equipment to 
support volunteers 

$2,529 $2,529 $1,686 

 

Cultural Activities $19,350 $33,610 $17,189 

ENVIRONMENTAL & 
SUSTAINABILITY 

        

Fishcare South West Inc 
Purchase of fish cut outs for a variety 
of species to support education 
program 

$484 $726 $484 

Friends of Platypus Park 
Implementation of community sessions 
to revegetate and assist maintaining 
the site 

$650 $4,250 $650 

MAD for the Merri Landcare 
Group 

Hydroseeding revegetation trial along 
various Merri River locations  

$3,000 $4,815 $3,000 

South West Community Energy * 
Education sessions to assist in 
reducing energy usage and encourage 
sustainable practices 

$950 $1,775 $630 

Warrnambool Coastcare 
Landcare Network 

Design and landscape four nature 
strips with native plants 

$3,000 $7,000 $3,000 

Warrnambool Community Garden 
Inc 

Facilitate bush food education and 
conduct cooking workshops 

$2,500 $15,825 $2,500 

Warrnambool Field Naturalists 
Club 

Purchase of essential equipment to 
support club volunteers and education 
programs 

$600 $943 $600 

Warrnambool Toy Library Inc 
Purchase of environmental sustainable 
toys for the community 

$3,000 $4,500 $3,000 
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Environment & Sustainability Total $14,184 $39,834 $13,864 

EVENT         

Great South Coast Ice Challenge 
# 

Warrnambool forum to build 
awareness, education and prevention. 

$3,000 $3,000 $700 

Rotary Club of Warrnambool East 
Inc 

City of Warrnambool Art Show - 25th 
Anniversary 

$3,000 $40,000 $3,000 

Warrnambool Model Railway Club 
Inc 

Warrnambool Model Railway Exhibition $2,000 $2,000 $1,333 

Warrnambool Gem Club Inc 50th Anniversary Gem Show $1,530 $2,445 $1,530 

Warrnambool Organ Festival Warrnambool Organ Festival $3,000 $16,225 $3,000 

 

Event Total $12,530 $63,670 $9,563 

SPORT & RECREATION 
    

Archers of Warrnambool Inc 
Purchase of essential equipment to 
support club activities 

$3,000 $4,820 $3,000 

City of Warrnambool Rowing Club 
Inc 

Upgrade of kitchen facilities to support 
club members 

$3,000 $6,620 $3,000 

Dennington Pony Club 
Purchase of additional arena 
equipment to support an increase in 
club participation 

$2,354 $3,530 $2,354 

Nestles Rowing Club 
Purchase of new boat trailer to support 
club activities 

$3,000 $6,126 $3,000 

Port Fairy to Warrnambool Rail 
Trail Committee Inc 

Purchase of essential equipment for 
encouraging and supporting volunteers 

$673 $1,010 $673 

Russells Creek Club Inc - Cricket 
Division 

Supply and installation of a Split 
System at Jetty Flat to support all user 
groups 

$2,750 $4,950 $2,750 

The South C Dragons, Womens 
Dragon Boat Team Inc * 

The purchase of essential equipment 
to support training and competition 

$960 $1,360 $906 

Warrnambool Basketball Inc 
The purchase of additional equipment 
for the wheelchair basketball program 

$3,000 $5,604 $3,000 

Warrnambool Masters Swim Club 
Purchase of essential training 
equipment to support the Restart Swim 
sessions 

$500 $1,000 $500 

Warrnambool Neighbourhood and 
Community Centre 

Implementation of sport and social 
programs to the East Warrnambool 
community 

$3,000 $4,500 $3,000 

 Warrnambool Tri Club Inc * 
Purchase of safety matting to assist 
participation in the All Abilities triathlon 

$700 $700 $466 

Warrnambool Wolves Football 
Club Inc 

Purchase of essential portable safety 
equipment (boundary fencing and 
protection netting) 

$3,000 $5,000 $3,000 

Warrnambool Yacht Club 
Purchase of essential safety equipment 
to support junior development and 
participation 

$1,654 $2,481 $1,654 

West Warrnambool Cricket Club 
Upgrade of Cricket training facilities at 
Davidson Oval 

$3,000 $5,427 $3,000 

  Sport & Recreation Total $30,591 $53,128 $30,303 

2017/18 CDF TOTALS $76,655 $190,242 $70,919 

 
* The amount sought by the applicant has been adjusted to meet the two for one funding ratio. 
 
# The recommended allocation based on assessment reductions.  
 
NEXT STEPS 
Subject to Council endorsement of this report’s recommendations, the following next steps will occur: 

 All applicants will be notified of the outcome of their application. 

 A Civic Reception will be held late September to present successful applications with their funds. This is 
an excellent opportunity for Council to acknowledge the very good work undertaken by a range of 
voluntary clubs and organisations in our community.  
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APPENDIX A 

Community Development Fund  

2017/18 Guidelines 

1. Introduction 

The Community Development Fund has been established by Council to assist local clubs and 
organisations in the provision of programs, projects activities or events within the City. 

2. Policy Statement 

Council accepts that participation in sport, recreation, environment and cultural activities plays an 
integral part in the health and fulfilment of its residents and contributes to the development of 
social capital in the community. 

Council will endeavor to provide assistance to local clubs and organisations providing sporting, 
recreational, cultural or environmental sustainability programs, projects, activities or events within 
the City, subject to the criteria and guidelines of the policy and to the availability of funds within 
the Council Budget. 

3. Funding Categories 

Applications for assistance will be considered within the following nominated categories; 

3.1 Sport and Recreation 

 Development and provision of new sporting or recreational programs, projects 

and activities. 

 Activities designed to provide sporting or recreational opportunities to specific 

population groups within the municipality ie older people, young people, people 

with disabilities, indigenous people and cultural and linguistically diverse (CALD) 

groups. 

 Purchase of new or replacement of essential sporting equipment. The purchase of 

uniforms is considered a lower priority. 

 Undertaking minor maintenance or improvement works to facilities providing for a 

specific sport or recreation activity. 

3.2 Cultural Activities 

 Cultural programs, projects, activities or events ie festivals, concerts, 

performances or displays. 

 Cultural opportunities for specific population groups within the municipality ie 

older people, young people, people with disabilities, indigenous people and CALD 

groups. 

 Purchase of new or replacement of essential equipment. 

 Undertaking minor maintenance or improvement works to facilities providing for a 

specific cultural pursuit. 

3.3 Events 

 Development and conduct of regional, national or international sporting, 

recreational or cultural events within the City. 
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3.4 Environment and Sustainability 

Development of projects that result in the following outcomes; 
 

 Protection or enhancement of remnant vegetation including linkages or 

increasing the quantity and quality of native vegetation. 

 Improvements to water quality 

 Reduction in energy use 

 Reduction in water use 

 Reduction in waste (by reducing, reusing and/or recycling) 

 Education of community about environmental and sustainability issues 

Note that projects that involve planting in Council owned or managed open spaces must meet 
Council’s Revegetation Policy and Guidelines. 

4. Funding Criteria 

Applications are evaluated by the CDF Assessment Panel with preference given to those 
that are able to meet TWO or more of the following criteria. 

Better Opportunities 

The applicant is seeking funding to increase the range and/or level of sport, recreation, cultural or 
environmental sustainability opportunities in the community. 

Increased Participation 

The applicant is seeking funding to increase, or in certain circumstances maintain, participation in 
sport, recreation, cultural or environmental sustainability activities. 

Improved Community benefit 

The applicant is seeking funding to improve access to those groups traditionally disadvantaged or 
to address issues around safety and risk management. 

Economic Contribution (Events only) 

The applicant is seeking funding to conduct an event that will contribute to increased 
economic activity in the city. 

Environmental Benefit 

The applicant is seeking funding for environment and sustainability projects that have a broad 
community benefit which also outline benefits expected for the City. 

Within the application, the proposed project must have documentation including location, 
frequency and/or duration of project activities and specify what Council funds would be spent on. 

Applications must also demonstrate that they can be completed within the time 
specified and by the end of the nominated financial year. 

It is highly recommended that the applicant discuss the prospective application with 
the relevant Council Officer prior to developing an application. 
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5. Policy Guidelines 

5.1 Clubs/Organisations Eligibility 

 Based within the Warrnambool City municipal boundaries. 

 Non-profit making. 

 Able to demonstrate direct benefits to the residents of Warrnambool. 

 Not already receiving substantial financial support from Council. 

 Incorporated if seeking a grant value > $1000. 

 Able to submit an audited financial statement or financial report prepared for an 

annual general meeting from the last financial year with their application. 

5.2 Clubs/Organisations will NOT be funded if they are: 

 From an individual. 

 For capital or major maintenance work on a building or facility. 

 For a program or activity considered the major responsibility of the State or 

Federal Government. 

 For a program or activity already commenced. 

 To subsidise the normal operation of the club/organisation. 

 For projects or activities previously funded by Council under this or another 

program. 

 Have not acquitted any prior applications funded by this program.  Also, if 

an evaluation form has not been received by Council for a previous project, 

any future project will not be eligible for funding. 

 From organisations that have access to substantive levels of recurrent 

funding not generally available to local clubs or organisations. 

 From community based agencies. 

5.3 Maximum Allocation 

Council will generally not make any grants under this program above a maximum limit of $3000. 
A larger grant value will only be considered in special circumstances. 

5.4 Planning /Development Requirements 

Applications seeking to undertake minor maintenance or improvement works on a building or 
property MUST ensure that: 

 The land owner’s consent is obtained if the applicant is not the land owner; 

 Confirmation of Council consent for the project is required for the property’s which 

are owned or managed by Council. Contact Council’s Recreation Planner for 

information on the consent process. 

 Relevant planning and/or building approvals have been obtained from Council. It is 

the applicant’s responsibility to check and apply for any permits required to 

undertake the funded project. 

 Site plan/sketch provided for any proposed building projects including any 

relationship the planned work has to existing structures and/or site boundaries. 

Note that funding to produce plans does not guarantee Council's adoption of the plan or funding to 
implement its recommendations. 
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It is RECOMMENDED that; 

Applications for projects intending to undertake minor maintenance or improvement works on a 
building should be discussed with Council’s Rural Access Officers in relation to access and 
mobility standards. 

5.5 Companion Card 

As part of Warrnambool City’s commitment to improve participation for all community members 
and in order to comply with existing Disability Anti- Discrimination Legislation, it is a condition that 
any events/activities funded under this program must accept the Companion Card (i.e. You 
must not charge an admission or participation fee for the attendant carer/support person of the 
person who holds a Companion Card). 

For more information on the Companion Card: www.companioncard.org.au. 

5.6 Matching Contribution 

Council will allocate funds to successful applicants on a two for one basis ie Council will provide 
two dollars for each dollar contributed by the successful applicant.  

If the applicant cannot provide a cash contribution, consideration may be given in special 
circumstances to offset Council’s grant against the value of in-kind services contributions, material 
or labour. 

5.7 Funding Criteria 

Applicants must be able to justify the necessity for a grant and should understand that funds are 
only available for projects that cannot be financed through other sources and that meet Council’s 
Funding Criteria. 

5.8 Auspice Organisations 

If the applicant’s group is not incorporated (or a similar legal entity) the applicant must appoint an 
incorporated organisation to auspice any funds received from the grant. 

An auspice organisation manages the funds on behalf of the applicant’s group that is not 
incorporated. The auspice organisation is required to be a not-for-profit community incorporated 
body or similar legal entity such as a school or an institution with a Deductible Gift Recipient (DGR) 
status. 

An auspice organisation is fully responsible for ensuring that the grant funds are applied, managed 
and expended in accordance with the Guidelines and Terms of Conditions of the grant.  

Other roles include ensuring that the Financial Acquittal Report relating to the grant is correctly 
lodged within the prescribed time.  If the auspice organisation is registered for the GST, a Tax 
Invoice must be provided on its letterhead and claimed by Council with the Financial Aquittal 
Report. 

5.9 GST Payment 

If you are not registered for GST and are allocated funds, a tax invoice must be submitted to 
Council prior to payment. The tax invoice is to state that there is no GST applicable on the total 
amount. 

If you are registered for the GST and you are allocated funds, Council will pay an additional 10% to 
accommodate the GST.  A tax invoice must be submitted to Council prior to payment, which clearly 
states the GST amount and total amount. 

http://www.companioncard.org.au/
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If the applicant does not have an ABN, the applicant will be required to complete a ‘Statement by a 
Supplier’ form. The form will need to be submitted with the application as an attachment. Forms are 
available from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) or the website www.ato.gov.au 

Failure to provide either an ABN or a ‘Statement by a Supplier’ form will result in Council being 
obliged to take a 48.5% of any allocations made to grant applications and send it to the ATO. 

5.10 Financial Accountability 

Successful applicants will be required to complete a Financial Acquittal at the conclusion of their 
project that outlines how Council funds were expended.  

Failure to complete the reporting form may prejudice future applications for Council assistance. 

5.11 Unspent Funds 

If a project does not proceed, or is only partly completed, any unspent grant funds must be 
returned to Council. 

5.12 Consent to alter Project 

Council approval must be sought, and received in writing, for any change in the nature or 
scope of the project or in the way Council funds are to be expended. 

5.13 One off Funding 

Funds will not be made available on a recurrent basis. Council may consider providing 
recurrent funding to applicants in the events category subject to evaluation criteria and funding 
availability. 

5.14 Applications 

Applications must be submitted online with all sections completed, by the date and time specified 
on it including all required attachments. 

 

 
  

http://www.ato.gov.au/
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5.11 ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 
PURPOSE 
 

This report contains the record of two Advisory Committees and one Reference Group meeting. 

 
 
REPORT 
 
1. Environment & Planning Advisory Committee 
 Wednesday 9 August 2017 – refer Appendix A 
 
 
2. Health & Wellbeing Advisory Committee 

Wednesday 23 August  2017 – refer Appendix B 
 
 
 

 
MOVED: CR. OWEN 
SECONDED: CR. ANDERSON 
 
That the Advisory Committee reports be received. 

CARRIED – 7:0 
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E n v i r o n m e n t  a n d  P l a n n i n g  A d v i s o r y  C o m m i t t e e  

M e e t i n g  M i n u t e s  

Date Wednesday 09 Aug 2017 Time 04:30 PM to 5:30 PM Location Committee Room 1 – Civic Centre 

Committee Members Chair Cr. Peter Hulin, Trish Blakeslee, Fiona Golding, Glenistair Hancock, Bruce Campbell, Amanda Gaffey, Ben 
Pohlner, Leanne Williams, Steve Myers 

Council Officer Invitees Jodie McNamara, Manager City Strategy & Development, Lauren Schneider, Co-ordinator City Sustainability 

Andrew Paton, Director City Growth 

No What Who 

1.  Apologies Cr. David Owen,  Chair 

2.  

Review of the Environmental Sustainability Strategy  
An overview of the review was provided to the committee. The existing 11 themes of the ESS were discussed 
including the relevance, any gaps or emerging issues. The Committee raised the following as possible 
inclusions into the new ESS:- 
 

 Corridors for biodiversity is important and presents an opportunity for a ‘buffer’ 

 Bluewren biolinks maps are a good resource 

 Reinstatement of riparian zones 

 Easy/achievable wins  

 Possible theme on education-Implementation/education and how to get the message out 

 Future opportunities in the growth areas 

 Health on waterways – water quality 

 Links to Warrnambool 2040 

 Regional partnerships - Merri river alliance  

 Building renewal of civic buildings 

 Built environment, building design awards & Built Environment Sustainability Scorecard  

 Partnerships and regional approach is important  

 Commitment to plastic bag free  

Lauren  

3.  

Logans Beach Draft Strategic Framework Plan  
 
The committee reviewed the draft framework plan and provided the following feedback for consideration:- 

 Traffic assessment – Nicholson st intersection – Lyndoch traffic, tourist traffic to be taken into account 

 Subdivision of hilltop – visual, environmental impact, dune system  

Jodie  

A
P
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 Bike/footpaths – connections, improvement  

 High water table – drainage and inundation impacts 

 Beach access – hooded plovers, dogs impacts 

 Rise in sea level  

 Community space / community hub 

 Name of project could be ‘nursery bay’ – investigate indigenous names 

 Opportunity for an ecovillage 

 Pest animals 

4.  Review of the Warrnambool Coastal Vegetation Management Plan – item deferred to next meeting 
Lauren  

5.  

Goal Setting 

Pilot project:- 

 The group discussed options for a lead pilot project.  Plastic Bag Free was identified as the first lead project 
to be pursued 

 The group will research other examples of cities which have gone plastic bag free and bring back to the 
next meeting 

 Officers will prepare a report for Council consideration 

 

Action:  

Committee to research case studies. Email documentation to Simone for upload into the Drop Box - 
scrowe@warrnambool.vic.gov.au 

 

Committee make recommendation to Council (Report to Council) 

 

All 

6.  
General Business  

- Next meeting – additional time requested 
All 

mailto:scrowe@warrnambool.vic.gov.au
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APPENDIX B 

 

 
 

Warrnambool City Council - Health and Wellbeing Advisory Committee 
 

MEETING RECORD 
 

Wednesday 23rd August, 12.30pm-2.00pm 
 

In attendance: Chair Cr Sue Cassidy, Cameron Price, Michael Absalom, Peter Steele, Glenys 
Phillpot, Don Haugh, Andrew Suggett, Caitlin McConnell, Lisa McLeod 

 
 

1. Apologies:  
Apologies received from Gemma Loomans, Meg Ruel, Vikki King.  Terry Kenny has tendered 
his resignation from committee. 

 

2. Overview of W2040/Health & Wellbeing survey findings (see presentation 

attached)  

Lisa McLeod provided a summary of the health and wellbeing data and the community engagement findings 
(W2040) which have informed the review of the plan. 

Only measures around smoking and physical activity have improved since the 2013 plan, however both remain 
an issue to be addressed in the community and it was agreed they should continue to be included the next 
iteration of the plan. 
 

Andrew Suggett noted whilst the engagement data indicates that access to GPs and health services is 
perceived to be very high (and has improved since 2013), there are specialist services (specifically a 
neurologist) which cannot be accessed in Warrnambool. It was noted that the Western Primary Health 
Network is working to identify and address gaps in services.  Committee Member Cameron Price is also on the 
community board for PHN and will report this information to their next meeting. 
 

Peter Steele queried the significant drop in community perceptions around accessibility of educational 
opportunities – particularly primary and secondary schools – as provision is unchanged. It was noted that some 
schools have applied zonings in 2016 limiting parental choice about the best school for their children.  This may 
have had an impact.  In terms of access to tafe/training and tertiary study, it is agreed that the media around 
the potential loss of or threat to these in the region has likely had an impact. The cost of tertiary education was 
also raised as a barrier to access. 
 

Glenys Phillpot noted that data on drug use is not included, and drugs were not identified as a priority issue in 
the 2013-17 plan.  Lisa McLeod noted that whilst drug use (prescription and illicit) are both concerns, data on 
prevalence of drug use is difficult to access. However, in the recent community survey 33% of respondents 
indicated they were ‘very concerned’ about their friends and/or family’s illicit drugs which indicates concern by 
community members about this issue. In addition, there is data available on hospitalisations and ambulance 
calls in Warrnambool which include drugs & alcohol as a factor.  These can be considered for future 
measurement and reporting. 
 

The Committee supported the addition of drugs to the priority issues in the plan.  



Warrnambool City Council 4 September 2017 
Minutes for Ordinary Meeting Page | 224 

 

3. Revised Health and Wellbeing Plan for 2017-21: 

Lisa McLeod provided an overview of the draft plan for 2017-2021. It was noted that this is a 
review of the plan, not a new plan, and that the draft as presented should be read in conjunction 
with the 2013-17 plan which provides context and detail about the priority issues and partners to 
the plan. The significant improvement to the draft plan is the inclusion of ‘measures’ to enable 
progress against the objectives to be consistently measured and better reported over time. 
 

It was noted that this consistent measurement relies on the WCC survey being repeated again in 
2021 to inform the next review of the plan, assess progress and report it to the community. 
 

There was support for the draft plan overall; however it was agreed by the advisory committee 
members that the objective to reduce harm from alcohol should be amended to include drugs. 
Amended objective to read:  “Reduce harm from alcohol and other drugs”.  Lisa to action and add 
an appropriate strategy and measure to the draft plan for Council’s consideration. 
 

Don Haugh noted that the plan has a real public sector leaning, and that business sector can also 
play a role in contributing to better health and wellbeing for the community. He is concerned that 
some workplaces create poor mental health outcomes for their employees and that organisations 
should do more to protect and promote wellbeing in the workplace.  Workplaces are a priority 
setting for action in the plan, and these comments will be noted when developing actions to 
explore ways to engage workplaces in the City in this work. 
 

Cameron Price noted that a clearer link to community resilience and climate change action should 
be included as it’s a requirement of the State Government that it be included. Lisa to action. 

 

4. Next steps: Process to endorsement & action 

The amended draft plan will be presented to Council on Monday 28th August, followed by a period 

for community and stakeholder feedback.  A final plan will be presented to Council for 

consideration in October. 

 

Lisa McLeod suggested that communications and final input from the Advisory Committee to the 

plan can be provided via email or phone.  No meeting will be called before the Council considers 

the new plan for endorsement in October. Lisa will provide updates to the committee in the 

interim and invite input as needed. 

 

5. Other business/Questions? 

Glenys Phillpot and Don Haugh congratulated Council and also acknowledged the officers involved 

in the W2040 engagement process.  Don Haugh noted that the work to raise awareness of and 

address local health and wellbeing issues by Council should be recognised and shared. 

  

6. Next Meeting: November 2017 (tbc) 

7. Meeting closed: 2.05pm 
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5.12 ASSEMBLY OF COUNCILLORS RECORDS 
 
PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this report is to provide the record of any assembly of Councillors, which has been 
held since the last Council Meeting, so that it can be recorded in the Minutes of the formal Council 
Meeting.  

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION  
 
The Local Government Act provides a definition of an assembly of Councillors where conflicts of interest 
must be disclosed.  
 
A meeting will be an assembly of Councillors if it considers matters that are likely to be the subject of a 
Council decision, or, the exercise of a Council delegation and the meeting is:  
 
1.  A planned or scheduled meeting that includes at least half the Councillors (5) and a member of Council 

staff; or  
 
2. an advisory committee of the Council where one or more Councillors are present.  
 
The requirement for reporting provides increased transparency, particularly the declarations of conflict of 
interest. 
 
 
REPORT 
 
Section 80A(2) of the Local Government Act 1989 requires the record of an Assembly of Councillors be 
reported to the next practicable Ordinary Meeting of Council. 
 
The record of the following Assembly of Councillors is enclosed:- 
 

1. Monday 14 August 2017 – refer Appendix A 

2. Monday 21 August 2017 – refer Appendix B 

3. Tuesday 22 August 2017 – refer Appendix C 

4. Monday 28 August 2017 – refer Appendix D 

 

 
MOVED: CR. OWEN 
SECONDED: CR. CASSIDY 
 
That the information be received. 

CARRIED – 7:0 
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APPENDIX A 

Assembly of Councillors Record   

Purpose of meeting: Councillor Briefing 

Meeting date: 14 August 2017 

Start time: 2pm 

Councillors present: Cr. K Gaston – Chairperson 
Cr. R Anderson 
Cr. S Cassidy 
Cr. T. Herbert 
Cr. P Hulin 
Cr. M Neoh 
Cr D Owen 

Council Officers 

present: 

Bruce Anson, Chief Executive 
Peter Utri, Director Corporate Strategies 
Andrew Paton, Director City Growth 
Scott Cavanagh, Director City Infrastructure 
Vikki King, Director Community Development 
Justin Hinch, Manager Infrastructure Development & Projects 

John Finnerty Coordinator Assets & Development 
 

Other persons 

present: 

Mark Fidge, CEO, South West TAFE 
Liz Price, General Manager, Great Ocean Road Regional Tourism 
Board 
Wayne Kayler-Thompson, Chairman, , Great Ocean Road 
Regional Tourism Board 

Goeff Soma, Director WRAD 
Glenys Phillport, Board Member WRAD 
Tony Ford, Executive Officer, Great South Coast Food & 
Fibre Council 
 

Apologies:  

Conflict of Interest 

Disclosures:   

 

Items discussed:  Asset management overview 

 South West TAFE  

 Great Ocean Road Regional Tourism 

 Proposed drug rehabilitation centre 

 Food and Fibre Action Plan 

 CBD revitalisation works 

 3-11 Clarke Street, Allansford rezoning request 

 Regional Cities Victoria Liveability Index 

 

Other items raised by 

Councillors & Officers: 

 

 
The meeting closed at 5.30pm. 
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APPENDIX B 

Assembly of Councillors Record   

Purpose of meeting: Councillor Briefing 

Meeting date: 21 August 2017 

Start time: 1.30pm 

Councillors present: Cr. K Gaston – Chairperson 
Cr. R Anderson 
Cr. S Cassidy 
Cr. T. Herbert 
Cr. P Hulin 
Cr. M Neoh 
Cr D Owen 

Council Officers 

present: 

Bruce Anson, Chief Executive 
Peter Utri, Director Corporate Strategies 
Andrew Paton, Director City Growth 
Scott Cavanagh, Director City Infrastructure 
Vikki King, Director Community Development 

 
Other persons 

present: 

 

Apologies:  

Conflict of Interest 

Disclosures:   

 

Items discussed:  Strategic Planning. 

Other items raised by 

Councillors & Officers: 

 

 
The meeting closed at 5.00pm. 
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APPENDIX C 

Assembly of Councillors Record   

Purpose of meeting: Councillor Briefing 

Meeting date: 22 August 2017 

Start time: 9.00am 

Councillors present: Cr. K Gaston – Chairperson 
Cr. R Anderson 
Cr. S Cassidy 
Cr. T. Herbert 
Cr. P Hulin 
Cr. M Neoh 
Cr D Owen 

Council Officers 

present: 

Bruce Anson, Chief Executive 
Peter Utri, Director Corporate Strategies 
Andrew Paton, Director City Growth 
Scott Cavanagh, Director City Infrastructure 
Vikki King, Director Community Development 

 
Other persons 

present: 

Nil 

Apologies: Nil 

Conflict of Interest 

Disclosures:   

 

Items discussed:  Strategic Planning 

Other items raised by 

Councillors & Officers: 

 

 
The meeting closed at 3.30pm. 
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APPENDIX D 

Assembly of Councillors Record   

Purpose of meeting: Councillor Briefing 

Meeting date: 28 August 2017 

Start time: 1pm 

Councillors present: Cr. K Gaston – Chairperson 
Cr. R Anderson 
Cr. S Cassidy 
Cr. T. Herbert 
Cr. P Hulin 
Cr. M Neoh 
Cr D Owen 

Council Officers 

present: 

Peter Utri, Director Corporate Strategies 
Andrew Paton, Director City Growth 
Scott Cavanagh, Director City Infrastructure 
Vikki King, Director Community Development 

Jenefer MacMillan, Infrastructure Projects Officer 
Russell Lineham, Manager, Recreation & Culture 
David Harrington, Manager Financial Services 
Lisa McLeod, Manager Community Policy & Planning  
John Finnerty, Acting Manager Infrastructure Services 

Other persons 

present: 

Mike Smith, Gianina Lopez, Mike Smith & Associates 

Apologies:  

Conflict of Interest 

Disclosures:   

Sue Cassidy – Gateways discussion 

Items discussed:  Warrnambool gateway signage 

 Lake Pertobe Masterplan Final report 

 Activities & Initiatives 2016/17 June quarter 

 Freedom of Entry to the City 

 Proposed Notice of Motion 

 2016-17 Capital Works Program result 

 Proposed naming of a reserve Witham Park 

 Draft resource recovery, waste and minimisation and 

management strategy 

 2017-18 Community Development Fund 

 Animal shelter services 

 July 2017 monthly financial report 

 Industrial buffers project 

 Extension of free parking  

 CBD revitalisation works 

 Health & Wellbeing Plan 

 

Other items raised by 

Councillors & Officers: 

 Estimated timeframe for flagpole completion 

 Re-introduction of health product vending machines 

 
The meeting closed at 5.30pm. 
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5.13 MAYORAL & CHIEF EXECUTIVE COUNCIL ACTIVITIES – SUMMARY REPORT 

PURPOSE 
 
This report summarises Mayoral and Chief Executive Council activities since the last Ordinary 
Meeting which particularly relate to key social, economic and environmental issues of direct 
relevance to the Warrnambool community. 

 
REPORT 

Date Location Function 

   
5 August 2017 Warrnambool Mayor : Attended the Warrnambool Tabletennis Interleague 

competition. 
   
6y August 2017 Warrnambool Mayor : Attended the Deakin University open day. 
   
9 August 2017 Warrnambool 

 
 
Warrnambool 

Mayor : Attended a meeting of the Great South Coast Food & 
Fibre Council. 
 
Mayor : Attended the Student Leaders Congress Night of 
Celebration. 

   
14 August 2017 Warrnambool Mayor : Provided a welcome to visiting Japanese Students 

from Miura, Japan. 
   
16 August 2017 Warrnambool Mayor : Attended the Small Business Festival Roadshow 

dinner. 
   
17 August 2017 Melbourne Chief Executive : Attended the LGPRo CEO’s forum. 
   
18 August 2017 Warrnambool Mayor : Attended the Vietnam Veterans Day wreath laying 

ceremony. 
   
19 August 2017 Warrnambool Cr. Anderson represented the Mayor at the Warrnambool 

College Annual Presentation Ball. 
   
25 August 2017 Melbourne Mayo r& Chief Executive : Attended the Regional Cities 

Victoria Forum. 
   
27 August 2017 Warrnambool 

 
 
Warrnambool 

Mayor : Participated in the Warrnambool Parkinson’s Support 
group ‘ A walk on the promenade”. 
 
Cr Anderson represented the Mayor at the Warrnambool 
Legacy Club Ecumenical Church Service to mark the 
commencement of Legacy Week. 

   
30 August 2017 Warrnambool Mayor : Attended the Rotary Club of Warrnambool Father of 

the year 2017 Presentation. 
   
   
   

MOVED: CR. ANDERSON 
SECONDED: CR. OWEN 
 
That this report be received. 

CARRIED – 7:0 
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6. NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
6.1  NOTICE OF MOTION -  NO. 2147 
 

MOVED: CR. HULIN 
SECONDED: CR. OWEN 
 
That Warrnambool City Council write to both the State and Federal Environment Ministers to: 
 
1. Voice our concern about the apparent poor practices of some operators in the resource recovery 

industry. 

2. Request that they jointly investigate the feasibility of a national return deposit recycling scheme 
(similar to that implemented in South Australia). 

3. Request that they support businesses within Australia with tax incentives for those who 
endeavour to use recycled materials within their businesses. 

Further, that the State Government be urged direct the hundreds of millions of dollars of community 
funds collected from Victorian landfill levies, which are being held in the Sustainability Fund, to fund 
research into World’s Best Practice for the ongoing use of recycled materials and their applications 
within Australia. 

CARRIED – 7:0 

 
7. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 
 
7.1 QUESTION FROM KEITH WALLACE, 214 MERRI STREET, WARRNAMBOOL 

“Regarding pedestrian crossing – Merri Street when is it going to be instigated?  Is this crossing in the plans 
for the area?” 
 
The Chief Executive responded that the Council engineering team were currently working with 
Victrack/Department of Transport about proposed changes to car park etc and part of that work includes 
pedestrian crossing/access in Merri Street.   
 
Second question from Keith Wallace 

“Why talking with VLine.” 
 
Third question from Keith Wallace 

“In the meantime no pedestrian crossing” 
 
 
7.2 QUESTION FROM DOROTHY GRAUER, 25 McDONALD STREET, WARRNAMBOOL 

“Has the Council got any plans to stop the squalor, clean up, squalor situation near the public toilets in Coles 
car park, City Centre?” 
 
Does the fact that the Council is involved with the car park create a conflict of interest? 
 
The Chief Executive responded that there was no conflict of interest, the area is privately owned and we will 
be cleaning the area up and the owners will be charged. 
 
Second Question from Dorothy Grauer 

“How do you explain this ongoing mess?” 
 
The Chief Executive responded that we will be negotiating with the owners to resolve this matter. 
 
8. CLOSE OF MEETING.  

The meeting closed at 6.50pm. 

CHAIRMAN 
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